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Statutory Auditor's Report on
the Consolidated Financial
Statements for the Year Ended
31 December 2007
Free translation – the original report is in
Dutch

To the Shareholders
As required by law and the company’s articles of
association, we are pleased to report to you on the audit
assignment which you have entrusted to us. This report
includes our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements together with the required additional
comments.

Unqualified Audit Opinion on the
Consolidated financial
statements with an Emphasis of
Matters Paragraphs
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of Zenitel NV (“the company”) and its subsidiaries
(jointly “the group”), prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union and with the legal and regulatory
requirements applicable in Belgium. Those consolidated
financial statements comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2007, the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, as well as the summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. The consolidated balance
sheet shows total assets of 84.127 (000) EUR and a consolidated loss (group share) for the year then ended of
12.465 (000) EUR.
The financial statements of several significant entities
included in the scope of consolidation which represent total
assets of 3.414 (000) EUR and a turnover of 1.742 (000) EUR
have been audited by other auditors. Our opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements, insofar as
it relates to the amounts contributed by those entities, is
based upon the reports of those other auditors.
The board of directors of the company is responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. This
responsibility includes among other things: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
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preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with legal requirements and auditing standards applicable in Belgium, as issued by the
“Institut des Reviseurs d’Entreprises/Instituut der
Bedrijfsrevisoren”. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
In accordance with these standards, we have performed procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, we have considered internal control relevant to the group’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the group’s internal control. We have
assessed the basis of the accounting policies used, the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the company
and the presentation of the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole. Finally, the board of directors and
responsible officers of the company have replied to all our
requests for explanations and information. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained, together with the
reports of other auditors on which we have relied, provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, and based upon the reports of other auditors,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the group’s financial position as of 31 December
2007, and of its results and its cash flows for the year then
ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU and with the legal and
regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium.
Without modifying the above opinion, we would like to draw
your attention to the director’s report, in which the board of
directors justifies the application of the valuation rules under
the going concern assumption. Although the group has
incurred significant losses that fundamentally affect the
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financial position, the board of directors, assuming the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern, evaluated the
net book value of capitalized development expenses, goodwill, deferred tax assets and tangible fixed assets and has
confirmed that the depreciations and provisions as recognized in the financials as per 31 December 2007 are sufficient.
This assumption is valid, only to the extent that the group
realises its financial, technical and commercial goals, as foreseen in its business plan to attain sufficient future profitability
to sustain the carrying value of these assets. The assumption
to continue as a going concern is only valid in case the
group continues to have access to short and medium term
financing. The group is dependent on the continued financial
support of the shareholders and other financing sources.
We draw your attention to a project in Algeria put on hold
since one year for which renegotiations are ongoing, as mentioned in the financial statements. The total net outstanding
receivable, after recorded provision, amounts to 1,135 (000) EUR.
The board of directors is of the opinion that, based on the
current situation, the recorded provision is sufficient.

Additional Comments
The preparation and the assessment of the information that
should be included in the directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board
of directors.
Our responsibility is to include in our report the following
additional comments which do not change the scope of
our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements:
• The directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements includes the information required by law and is in
agreement with the consolidated financial statements.
However, we are unable to express an opinion on the
description of the principal risks and uncertainties confronting the group, or on the status, future evolution, or
significant influence of certain factors on its future development. We can, nevertheless, confirm that the information
given is not in obvious contradiction with any information
obtained in the context of our appointment;
• As mentioned in the note 32 Contingencies to the financial
statements, we wish to draw the attention to various litigations and disputes. Provisions were set up, based on the
current situation of the file, in order to cover the risks linked
to some of these litigations and disputes.

Diegem, 28 March 2008
The Statutory Auditor
DELOITTE Bedrijfsrevisoren / Reviseurs d’Entreprises
BV o.v.v.e. CVBA / SC s.f.d. SCRL
Represented by William Blomme
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Statutory Auditor's Report on
the Consolidated Financial
Statements for the Year Ended
31 December 2006
Free translation – the original report is in
Dutch

To the Shareholders
As required by law and the company's articles of
association, we are pleased to report to you on the audit
assignment which you have entrusted to us. This report
includes our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements together with the required additional
comment.

Unqualified Audit Opinion on the
Consolidated Financial
Statements with an Emphasis
Paragraph
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of Zenitel NV ("the company") and its subsidiaries
(jointly "the group"), prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union and with the legal and regulatory
requirements applicable in Belgium. Those consolidated
financial statements comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2006, the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, as well as the summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. The consolidated balance
sheet shows total assets of 87.114 (000) EUR and a consolidated loss for the year then ended of 3.651(000) EUR.
The financial statements of several significant entities included in the scope of consolidation which represent total assets
of 5.925 (000) EUR and a total turnover of 4.193 (000) EUR
have been audited by other auditors. Our opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements, insofar as
it relates to the amounts contributed by those entities, is
based upon the reports of those other auditors.
The board of directors of the company is responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. This
responsibility includes among other things: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial
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statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with legal requirements
and auditing standards applicable in Belgium, as issued by
the "Institut des Reviseurs d'Entreprises/Instituut der
Bedrijfsrevisoren". Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
In accordance with these standards, we have performed procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, we have considered
internal control relevant to the group's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group's internal control. We have
assessed the basis of the accounting policies used, the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the company and the presentation of the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole. Finally, the board of directors and
responsible officers of the company have replied to all our
requests for explanations and information. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained, together with the
reports of other auditors on which we have relied, provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, and based upon the reports of other auditors,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the group's financial position as of 31 December
2006, and of its results and its cash flows for the year then
ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU and with the legal and
regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium.
Without modifying the above opinion, we would like to draw
your attention to the director's report, in which the board of
directors justifies the application of the valuation rules under
the going concern assumption.
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Although the group has incurred significant losses that fundamentally affect the financial position, the board of directors, assuming the group's ability to continue as a going concern, evaluated the net book value of capitalized development expenses, goodwill, deferred tax assets, work in
progress and related receivables and has confirmed that the
depreciations and provisions as recognised in the financials
as per 31 December 2006 are sufficient.
This assumption is valid, only to the extent that the group
realises its financial, technical and commercial goals, as foreseen in its business plan to attain sufficient future profitability
to sustain the carrying value of these assets. The assumption
to continue as a going concern is only valid in case the
group has access to short and medium term financing. The
group is dependent on the continued financial support of
the shareholders and other financing sources.
No adjustments that might be necessary if the company
would not be able anymore to continue as a going concern in
the foreseeable future, relating to the classification or the valuation of specific balance sheet accounts have been
recorded.

Additional Comment
The preparation and the assessment of the information that
should be included in the directors' report on the consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board of
directors.
Our responsibility is to include in our report the following
additional comment which does not change the scope of our
audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements:
• The directors' report on the consolidated financial statements includes the information required by law and is in
agreement with the consolidated financial statements.
However, we are unable to express an opinion on the
description of the principal risks and uncertainties confronting the group, or on the status, future evolution, or
significant influence of certain factors on its future development. We can, nevertheless, confirm that the information
given is not in obvious contradiction with any information
obtained in the context of our appointment;
• As mentioned in the note 24 Contingencies to the financial
statements, we wish to draw the attention to various litigations and disputes. Provisions were set up, based on the
current situation of the file,in order to cover the risks linked
to some of these litigations and disputes.

Diegem, 29 March 2007
The Statutory Auditor
DELOITTE Reviseurs d'Entreprises
SC s.f.d. SCRL
Represented by William Blomme
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Consolidated Income Statement
Analysis of operating results by nature

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

NOTES

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Continuing operations
Revenue
Other gains and losses
Raw materials and consumables used
Employee benefits expense

1
3
4
5

2007

2006

95,264
458
(46,964)
(39,856)

115,313
523
(61,900)
(35,585)

(5,224)

of which reorganization expenses

Depreciation and amortization expense
Net impairment on current assets
Consulting expenses
Facility expenses
Other expenses

11

(10,646)
261
(1,821)
(93)

12

(12,299)
(166)

(3,495)
(156)

(12,465)

(3,651)

(12,465)

(3,651)

13,984
(0,89)
(0,89)

9,614
(0,38)
(0,38)

19

6
7

(2,703)
(843)
(3,331)
(6,255)
(6,416)
(190)

of which reorganization expenses

Operating Profit / (Loss)
Finance income
Finance costs
Net foreign exchange gains / (losses)

9
10

Profit / (Loss) before tax
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year
Atributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Earning per share
From continuing and discontinued operations
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

53

(2,623)
(720)
(4,591)
(7,205)
(4,816)
(1,604)
96
(1,596)
(391)

16,17,18

13.1
13.2

The accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
Assets

31 DECEMBER

NOTES

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Finance lease receivables
Other financial assets
Other assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Contracts in progress
Trade and other receivables
Finance lease receivables
Deferred charges and accrued income
Cash and cash equivalents
Subtotal
Assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

Total assets
The accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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16
17
18
20
21
22
29

23
24
25
21

26

15

2007

2006

16,183
7,723
2,020
2,377
730
813
698
30,544

15,598
8,555
1,657
2,348
837
848
670
30,513

12,432
7,789
25,282
379
772
6,929
53,583
0
53,583

10,647
6,502
27,878
437
1,103
3,594
50,161
6,440
56,601

84,127

87,114
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
Equity and Liabilities

31 DECEMBER

NOTES

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Capital and reserves
Capital
Share premium account
Reserves
Retained earnings
Treasury shares
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Retirement benefit obligations
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

28
29
30

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Current tax liabilities
Provisions
Subtotal
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale
Total current liabilities

27
28

30

15

Total equity and liabilities

2007

2006

25,274
15,115
2,087
(15,385)
(2,958)

14,850
6,795
2,362
(2,920)
(2,958)

24,133

18,129

24,133

18,129

11,846
3,878
300
0
16,024

7,542
4,616
178
70
12,406

31,313
3,221
621
8,815
43,970
0
43,970

31,952
14,058
1,652
5,010
52,672
3,907
56,579

84,127

87,114

The accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
-

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

(4,447)
(1,821)
(156)
(6,424)

(2,015)
(1,596)
(148)
(3,759)

(30)
261
68
(3,272)
7
(853)
(1,631)
2,430
(3,020)

(10)
84
391
(4,955)
623
(508)
(1,921)
77
(6,219)

19,800
(1,056)
5,507
(7,454)
16,797

0
0
8,367
(1,237)
7,130

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

7,353

(2,848)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents
At start of the year
(Decrease)/increase
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies
At the end of the year

(2,762)
7,353
0
4,591

39
(2,848)
47
(2,762)

6,929
(840)
(1,498)
4,591

4,162
(420)
(6,504)
(2,762)

NOTES

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Cash flows from operations
Cash flows generated from operations
Interest paid
Taxes paid
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments to acquire financial assets
Interest received
Proceeds from repayment of loans and other non-current receivables
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets
Development costs paid
Proceeds from disposal of business
Net cash (used in) /generated by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity shares
Payments for share issue costs
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Net cash received / (used in) financing activities

Total cash and cash equivalents
(Bank overdrafts)
(Bank borrowings)
Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
The accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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12

22
9

16
16
18
8
14

28
28

26
28
28

Zenitel RA 2007-UK-Financier BB 2:Zenitel RA 2007 Financier

20/03/08

19:18

Page 9

• Auditor's Reports on
Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Valuation Rules
• Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

• Auditor's Reports
• Statutory Balance Sheet
• Statutory Income
Statement
• Dividend Policy
• Annex

Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
-

Share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Equitysettled
employee
benefits
reserve

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Attributable
to equity
holders of
the parent

Total

14,850

6,795

(2,958)

121

2,244

731

21,783

21,783

-

-

-

(52)

-

(52)

(52)

-

49
-

-

(3,651)

49
(3,651)

49
(3,651)

(2,958)

170

2,192

(2,920)

18,129

18,129

Total

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Balance on
January 1, 2006
As previously reported
Exchange differences
arising on translation
of foreign operations
Recognition of
share-based payments
Net loss 2006
Balance on
December 31, 2006

-

-

14,850

6,795

Share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Equitysettled
employee
benefits
reserve

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Attributable
to equity
holders of
the parent

14,850
10,424
-

6,795
9,376
(1,056)

(2,958)
-

170
-

2,192
-

(2,920)
-

18,129
19,800
(1,056)

18,129
19,800
(1,056)

-

-

-

-

(302)

-

(302)

(302)

-

-

-

27
-

-

(12,465)

27
(12,465)

27
(12,465)

15,115

(2,958)

197

1,890

(15,385)

24,133

24,133

-

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Balance on
January 1, 2007
As previously reported
Issue of ordinary shares
Share issue costs
Exchange differences
arising on translation
of foreign operations
Recognition of
share-based payments
Net loss 2007
Balance on
December 31, 2007

25,274

The accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Valuation Rules
Zenitel (the “Company”) is a limited liability company domiciled in Belgium. The consolidated financial statements of the
company for the year ended 31 December 2007 comprise
the company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and jointly
controlled entities. The addresses of its registered office and
principal place of business are disclosed in the introduction
to the annual report. The principal activities of the Group are
described in this annual report.
The financial statements were authorized for issue by the
directors on March 28th, 2008.

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. These consolidated
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except for certain financial instruments (including
derivatives) which are measured at fair value.

Changes in Presentation
Compared to Previous Year
The presentation of the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated balance sheet and the consolidated cash flow
statement has changed compared to the last year in view of
International Financial Reporting Standards requirements. In
this respect, the presentation of the 2006 figures differs from
the previously published figures.

Adoption of New and Revised
International Financial
Reporting Standards
Application of New IFRS
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IFRS 8 Operating segments introduces the “management
approach” to segment reporting. IFRS 8 requires disclosure of
segments information based on the internal reports regularly
reviewed by Zenitel’s Chief Operating Decision Makers in
order to assess each segment’s performance and to allocate
resources to them. In 2006 Zenitel early adopted IFRS 8,
adapting its segment reporting to the management reporting
of the Group. This was done because management, reporting
and decisions are made on a regional level.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures was adopted in
2007 IFRS 7 introduced new requirements to improve the
information on financial instruments that is given in entities’
financial statements. It replaces IAS 30 Disclosures in the
Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Institutions and
some of the requirements in IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation.

The following standards became applicable for 2007, but did
not significantly impact these financial statements:
- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendment Capital Disclosures (applicable for accounting years
beginning on or after 1 January 2007);
- IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
(applicable for accounting years beginning on or after
1 March 2006);
- IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 (applicable for accounting years
beginning on or after 1 May, 2006);
- IFRIC 9 Reassessement of Embedded Derivatives (applicable for accounting years beginning on or after 1 June 2006);
- IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
(applicable for accounting years beginning on or after
1 November 2006).

The following standards have been issued but are not yet
effective:
- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009). This Standard
replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
(revised in 2003) as amended in 2005;
- Amendment to IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009). This Standard amends IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
(revised 2003);
- Amendment to IFRS 2 – Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations (applicable for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2009);
- Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable
financial instruments an obligations arising on liquidation
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Valuation Rules
(annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009);
- IFRS 3 Business Combinations (applicable to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning
on or after 1 July 2009). This Standard replaces IFRS
Business Combinations as issued in 2004;
- Amendment to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (applicable for
accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2009);
- IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 Group and Treasury share Transactions
(applicable for accounting years beginning on or after
1 March 2007);
- IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements (applicable for
accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2008);
- IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (applicable for
accounting years beginning on or after 1 July 2008);
- IFRIC 14 IAS 19 The Limit Limitlimit on a defined benefit
asset minimum funding requirements and their interaction’
(applicable for accounting years beginning on or after
1 January 2008.
The Company did not early adopt these standards and has
not yet determined the potential of the interpretation of these
standards.

Summary of Principal
Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include all the subsidiaries that are controlled by the Group. Control is achieved
where Zenitel has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Control is presumed to exist when Zenitel owns, directly or
indirectly, more than 50 % of an entity’s voting rights of the
share capital. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.
All intra-Group transactions, balances income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Minority interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of
consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the
Group’s equity therein. Minority interests consist of the
amount of those interests at the date of the original business
combination (see below) and the minority’s share of changes
in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for
the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of
the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Group at the date of
exchange, in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any
costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that
meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business

12

ZENITEL

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 7 - F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S

Zenitel RA 2007-UK-Financier BB 2:Zenitel RA 2007 Financier

20/03/08

19:18

Page 13

• Auditor's Reports on
Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Valuation Rules
• Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

• Auditor's Reports
• Statutory Balance Sheet
• Statutory Income
Statement
• Dividend Policy
• Annex

Valuation Rules
Combinations are recognized at their fair values at the
acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal
Groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations, which are recognized and measured at fair value less cost to sell. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized, is recorded as goodwill. If, after reassessment, the
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the
cost of the business combination, the excess is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized.

Investments in Associates
Associates are those companies in which the Group has,
directly or indirectly, a significant influence but not the control
to govern the financial and operating policies. This is presumed when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. An investment in an associate is accounted for
under the equity method.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of
the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the
value of individual investments. Losses of an associate in
excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are not recognized, unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognized at the date
of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. The goodwill is
included within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost
of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immediately
in profit or loss.
Where a Group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Interests in Joint Ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the
Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that
is subject to joint control, that is when the strategic financial
and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require
the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint
venture is consolidated under the proportional method.

Foreign Currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group entity are
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).
For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the
results and financial position of each entity are expressed in
Euro, which is the functional currency of the company, and
the presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the balance sheet currency rate. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Valuation Rules
Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
included in the income statement as a financial result.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of nonmonetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognized directly in equity. For such nonmonetary items, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognized directly in equity.
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group companies,
using a different functional currency than the Euro, are
expressed in Euro using exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified in equity and transferred
to the Group’s “Cumulative translation reserve”. Such
exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the
period in which the entity is disposed of.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing date.

Intangible Assets
Acquired Intangible Assets
Licences, patents, trademarks, similar rights and software are
measured initially at cost. In process Research & Development obtained in a business combination is initially measured
at fair value. After initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. They are amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful life which is not considered to exceed
20 years. At the end of each annual reporting period the
amortization method and period are reviewed with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Computer Software Development Costs
Generally, costs associated with developing or maintaining
computer software programmes are recognized as an
expense as incurred. However, costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group that have probable economic benefits
exceeding the cost beyond one year, are recognized as
assets. Direct costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads that are necessary to generate the asset and that can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to the
asset.
Computer software costs that have been capitalized are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of their
expected useful lives, not exceeding a period of five years.

Internally Generated Intangible Assets Research And Development Expenditure
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the
prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge, is
recognized in the income statement as an expense as
incurred.
Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the
design and testing of new or improved products) are recognized as intangible assets when the asset can be clearly
identified, when the development costs can be measured
reliably and to the extent that it is probable that the asset
created will generate future economic benefits. Other development expenditures are recognized as an expense as
incurred. Development cost previously recognized as an
expense is not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period. Development costs that have been capitalized are amortized from the commencement of the commercial production
of the product on a straight-line basis over the period of its
expected benefit. The amortization periods adopted do not
exceed five years.

Goodwill
Goodwill arises when the cost of a business combination at
the date of acquisition is in excess of the Group’s interest in
the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized. Goodwill is initially recognized as
an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses.
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Valuation Rules
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash generating units expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. The cash-generating unit(s) to which the goodwill has been allocated are
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired, by comparing its carrying
amount with its recoverable amount. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate is described under ‘Investments in associates’
above.
On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
In case the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess remaining after reassessment is recognized immediately into profit and loss.

Tangible Assets
Property, Plant And Equipment
Land is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
All other property, plant and equipment are carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses except
for property, plant and equipment under construction which
is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Cost
includes all directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
working condition for its intended use.

The following useful lives are applicable to the main property,
plant and equipment categories:
Industrial buildings:
Office buildings:
Machines-tools and heavy equipment:
Network infrastructure:
Electronic measuring appliances:
Quality control appliance:
Workshop and laboratory equipment:
Furniture in industrial buildings:
Vehicles - cars:
Vehicles - trucks:
Office furniture:
EDP (hardware):
Facilities for the staff:

40
50
10
7-10
5
10
4
10
4-5
4
10
3
10

years
years
years
years
years
years
years
years
years
years
years
years
years

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset requiring a long preparation are not included in the cost of this asset but are
expensed as incurred.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties under construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straightline method to their estimated residual value. The depreciation is computed from the date the asset is ready to be used.
The estimated useful life, residual value and depreciation
method of an asset is reviewed at least at each financial
year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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Valuation Rules
Leasing

Capital Management

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of
the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings
disclosed in note 28, cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising
issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Group’s
policy is to borrow centrally, using a mixture of long term and
short term capital market issues and borrowing facilities, to
meet the anticipated funding requirements. These borrowings
together with cash generated from operations, are on-lent or
contributed as equity to certain subsidiaries.

Zenitel as Lessee
Finance Leases
Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of
the Group at the lower of their fair value and the present
value of the minimum lease payments less cumulative depreciation and impairment losses. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the balance sheet as obligations
under finance leases.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss.
The depreciable amount of a leased asset is allocated to
each accounting period during the period of expected use on
a systematic basis consistent with the depreciation policy the
lessee adopts for depreciable assets that are owned. If there
is reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership
by the end of the lease term, the period of expected use is
the useful life of the asset; otherwise the asset is depreciated
over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

The Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on a
quarterly basis. As a part of this review, the Board of
Directors considers the cost of capital and the risk associated with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations of the Board of Directors, the Group balances it’s overall capital structure through new share issues and the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. When analyzing the capital structure of the Group, the same debt/equity
classifications are used as the classifications applied in our
IFRS reporting. Besides the statutory minimum equity funding requirements that apply to our subsidiaries in the different
countries, Zenitel is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements.

Operating Lease
Lease payments under an operating lease are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive
to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Borrowing Costs
All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.
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Impairment of Tangible and
Intangible Assets Excluding
Goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Valuation Rules
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation decrease .
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value.
Raw materials, consumables and goods purchased for resale
are valued at the lower of their cost or their net realizable
value. Cost is determined using the method most appropriate
to a particular class of inventory, with the majority of these
classes of inventories being valued using the weighted average cost method. The cost of work in process and finished
goods comprize all the costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. The conversion costs include the cost of production and the related fixed and variable production overhead costs (including depreciation).
Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price
less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Contracts in Progress
Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the
balance sheet date, as measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the
estimated total contract costs, except where this would not
be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in
contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to
the extent that they have been agreed with the customer.
Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognized as expenses in
the period in which they are incurred.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an
expense immediately.
Where costs incurred and recognized profits (less recognized
losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is shown as an
asset under the heading “Contracts in progress”.
Where progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognized profits (less recognized losses), the balance is shown
as due to customers on construction contracts, under the
heading ‘Other payables’.

Contract Revenue
Contract revenue comprises:
• The initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract; and
• Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments:
- To the extent that it is probable the they will result in
revenue; and
- They are capable of being reliably measured.

Contract Costs
• Costs that relate directly to the specific contract;
• Costs that are attributable to contract activity in general
and can be allocated to the contract; and
• Such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the
customer under the terms of the contract
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Valuation Rules
Financial Instruments
Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair
value, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method. Interest income is
recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for
short term receivables when the recognition of interest would
be immaterial. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognized in profit or loss when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance
recognized is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition. When a trade receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in
profit or loss.

Investments
Investments are recognized and derecognized on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an investment is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.
At subsequent reporting dates, debt securities that the Group
has the expressed intention and ability to hold to maturity
(held-to-maturity debt securities) are measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognized to reflect irrecoverable amounts. An
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent
periods when an increase in the investment’s recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognized, subject to the restriction that
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the amortized cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognized.
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Investments other than held-to-maturity debt securities are
classified as either investments held for trading or as available-for-sale, and are measured at subsequent reporting
dates at fair value. Where securities are held for trading purposes, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period. For available-for-sale
investments, gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are recognized directly in equity, until the security is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is
included in the profit or loss for the period. Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss for equity investments classified as available-for-sale are not subsequently reversed
through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in profit
or loss for debt instruments classified as available-for-sale
are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of
the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Cash And Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demandable deposits.

Financial Liabilities And Equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
Group are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities
and equity instruments are set out below.

Bank Borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognized
over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see above).

Trade Payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective
interest rate method. Interest expense is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short term payables
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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Valuation Rules
Equity Instruments

Government Grants

Equity instruments issued by the company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Government grants are recognized when there is a
reasonable assurance that:
• the Group will comply with the conditions attached to
them;
• the grants will be received.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its
exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising
from operational, financing and investment activities. The
Group does not engage in speculative transactions nor does
it issue or hold financial instruments for trading purposes.
Derivatives are initially recorded at fair value and re-measured at the subsequent reporting dates.

Derivatives that do not Qualify for Hedge
Accounting
Certain forward exchange rate transactions, while providing
effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting under the
specific rules in IAS 39. Changes in the fair value of forward
exchange rate contracts that do not qualify for hedge
accounting under IAS 39 are recognized immediately in the
income statement.

Treasury Shares
When the Group purchases its own shares, the amount paid,
including attributable direct costs is accounted for as a
deduction of equity. The proceeds from sales of shares are
directly included in net equity with no impact on net income.

Non-Current Assets Held
for Sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition. Management
must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year
from the date of classification.
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Government grants are recognized as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which
they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognized as income of the period in
which they become receivable.
Government grants related to assets are deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized in the balance sheet when:
(a) there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event; and
(b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;
and
(c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Restructurings
A restructuring provision is recognized when the Group has
developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and
has raized a valid expectation in those affected that it will
carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan
or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The
measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the
direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the
restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities
of the entity.
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Valuation Rules
Warranty

Rendering of Services

The Group recognizes the estimated liability to repair or replace
its products still under warranty at the date of sale of the relevant products or services. This provision is estimated based on
the past history of the level of repairs and replacements.

Revenue from rendering of services is recognized by reference to the stage of completion when the outcome of a
transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably. When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably,
revenue is recognized only to the extent of the expenses
recognized that are recoverable.

Onerous Contracts
The Group recognizes a provision for onerous contracts
when the expected benefits to be derived from a contract are
less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to
the entity and that these benefits can be measured reliably.
Turnover is reported net of sales taxes, rebates and other
similar allowances

Sale of Goods
Revenue from sales of goods is recognized when the following conditions are satisfied:
• The significant risks and rewards of the ownership of goods
is transferred to the buyer;
• The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor
effective control over the goods sold;
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the entity; and
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
Provisions for rebates and discounts are recorded as a
reduction of revenue at the time the related revenues are
recorded or when the incentives are offered.
Cash discounts are offered to customers to encourage
prompt payment. They are recorded as a reduction of
revenue at the time of invoicing.
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Revenue from construction contracts is recognized in accordance with the accounting policy outlined above under the
heading ‘Contracts in progress’.

Royalties
Royalty revenue is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.
Royalties determined on a time basis are recognized on a
straight-line basis over the period of the agreement. Royalty
arrangements that are based on production, sales and other
measures are recognized by reference to the underlying
arrangement.

Interest
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimate
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividends
Dividends are recognized when the shareholder's right to
receive the payment is established.

Rental Income
Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease.

Income Taxes
The income tax charge is based on the results for the year
and includes current and deferred taxation.
Current tax is the amount of tax to pay based on the taxable
profit of the period, as well as any adjustments relating to
previous years. It is calculated using local tax rates adopted
(or substantially enacted) at the closing date.
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Valuation Rules
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arizes from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The measurement of deferred
tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at
the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognized as an expense or
income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items
credited of debited directly to equity, in which case the tax is
also recognized directly in equity, or where they arise from the
initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a
business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in
calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in th net fair value of the acquirer’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

Employee Benefits
Pension Obligations
The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined
contribution retirement benefit plans, the assets of which are
held in separate trustee-administered funds or group insurances. Payments to defined contribution benefit plans are
charged as an expense as they fall due.
The Group’s commitments under defined benefits plans, and
the related costs, are valued using the “projected unit credit
method” with actuarial valuations being carried out at each
balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses that exceed
10 per cent of the greater of the present value of the Group’s
defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets
are amortized over the expected average remaining working
lives of the participating employees. Past service cost is recognized immediately to the extent that the benefits are
already vested, and otherwise is amortized on a straight-line
basis over the average period until the benefits become
vested.
The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance
sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and unrecognized past service cost, and as reduced by
the fair value of plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to unrecognized actuarial losses and past
service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Other Long-term Employee Benefits
These benefits are accounted for on the same basis as postemployment benefits except that all actuarial gains and
losses are recognized immediately and no “corridor” is
applied and all past service cost is recognized immediately.
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Valuation Rules
Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal
plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months
after balance sheet date are discounted to present value.

Profit-sharing and Bonus Plans
The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses
and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the company’s shareholders
after certain adjustments. The Group recognizes a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice
that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee Stock Option Plans
The Group operates several equity-settled share-based compensation plans. In accordance with IFRS 1, IFRS 2 Sharebased Payment has been applied to all equity instruments
granted after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of
1 January 2005.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognized as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted. Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are expected
to become exercisable. At each balance sheet date, the
entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable. It recognizes the impact of
the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity over the
remaining vesting period.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium when the options are exercized.
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Financial Risk Factors
Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on sales and
purchases, inter-company loans and interest rate variances
are inherent risk in the performance of the business. Group
entities seek to minimize potential adverse effects of these
financial risks on the financial performance from their local
businesses.

Financial Risk Management
Objectives
The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to
the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and international financial markets, monitors the financial risks relating
to the operations. These risks include market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit
risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group seeks to minimize the effects of these risks by
using derivative financial instruments to hedge these risk
exposures. The use of financial derivatives is governed by
the Group’s policies approved by the board of directors,
which provide principles on foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and nonderivative financial instruments, and the investment of excess
liquidity.
Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by
the internal auditors on a continuous basis. The Group does
not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

Foreign Exchange Risks
Zenitel is exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates which
may lead to profit or loss in currency transactions. As Zenitel
has substantial activities in the United States and Norway,
changes in the exchange rate of the USD and NOK against
the EUR may affect the Company's consolidated accounts.
Moreover, the Group operates internationally and is exposed
to foreign exchange risks as a result of the foreign currency
transactions entered into by its different subsidiaries in currencies other than their functional currency, primarily with
respect to USD, ANG, NOK, CZK, GBP, SGD, DKK, AUD, and
SEK. Zenitel hedges the main currency
transactions, within approved Group policy parameters.
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Valuation Rules
Transactional Foreign Currency Risk
The transactional currency risk mainly arizes from the open foreign currency positions (excluding intercompany positions) outstanding of group companies against respectively the DKK, the
SEK, the NOK, the USD and the SGD. On the basis of the average volatility during the last 5 years of these currencies against
the Euro for respectively 2007 and 2006, we estimated the reasonably possible changes of exchange rate of these currencies
as follows:

As much as foreign currency risk on borrowing is concerned, it
is the Company’s policy to have debt in the subsidiaries as
much as possible in the functional currency of the subsidiary. At
the same time hedging is put in place for transactions other than
the transactions in the functional currency, unless the cost to
hedge outweighs the benefits. In 2007 and 2006 the number
and value of unhedged transactions that were not in the functional currency of the subsidiaries is small.

Closing
rate
31 Dec 2007

Possible
volatility of
rates in %

7.98
1.47
9.44
2.13
7.46

2.4%
5.7%
1.1%
2.8%
0.1%

EUR/ NOK
EUR/ USD
EUR/SEK
EUR/SGD
EUR/DKK

If the above-indicated currencies had weakened/ strengthened during 2007 by the above estimated changes against
the Euro, with all of the other variable held constant, the

Rates used for the
sensitivity analysis

7.78
1.39
9.33
2.07
7.45

-

Closing
rate
31 Dec 2006

Possible
volatility of
rates in %

8.24
1.32
9.05
2.03
7.46

3.6%
8.9%
1.0%
6.2%
0.2%

8.17
1.56
9.54
2.19
7.47

Rates used for the
sensitivity analysis

7.95
1.20
8.96
1.90
7.45

-

8.53
1.44
9.15
2.15
7.47

2007 and 2006 net result would not have been significantly
affected (less than EUR 50 K). Neither would there have been
a material impact on other components of equity.

Translational Foreign Currency Risk
Around 59% (2006: 58 %) of Zenitel's revenue is generated
by subsidiaries, of which the activities are conducted in a
currency other than the Euro. A currency translation risk
arizes when the financial data of these foreign operations are
converted in Zenitel's presentation currency, the Euro. The
foreign currencies in which the main Zenitel subsidiaries

1 Euro equals
NOK
SEK
DKK
USD
SGD
ANG
GBP
CZK

Closing Average
Possible
rate
rate volatility of
31
2007
rates in
December
2007
2007

7.98
9.44
7.46
1.47
2.13
2.65
0.69
28.05

8.00
9.26
7.45
1.38
2.07
2.48
0.69
8.00

operate are the NOK, the SEK, the DKK, the USD, the SGD
and the ANG. On the basis of the average volatility during the
last 5 years of these currencies against the Euro for respectively 2007 and 2006, we estimated the reasonably possible
change of the exchange rate of these currencies against the
euro as follows:

Rates as used in the sensitivity analysis
for 2007
Possible
closing rate

2.42%
7.78 - 8.17
1.08%
9.33 - 9.54
0.13%
7.45 - 7.47
5.66%
1.39 - 1.56
2.76%
2.07 - 2.19
5.83%
2.50 - 2.81
1.52%
0.68 - 0.70
5.35% 26.54 - 29.55

If the Euro had weakened/strengthened during 2007 and
2006 by the above estimated possible changes against the
above listed currencies with all other variables held constant,
the 2007 profit would have been EUR 0.04 million (0.4% of

Possible
average rate

7.81 - 8.20
9.16 - 9.36
7.44 - 7.46
1.30 - 1.46
2.01 - 2.13
2.34 - 2.63
0.68 - 0.70
7.57 - 8.43

Closing Average
Possible
rate
rate volatility of
31
2006
rates in
December
2006
2006

8.24 8.06
9.05 9.25
7.46 7.46
1.32 1.26
2.03 2.00
2.38 2.26
0.69 0.69
27.54 28.31

Rates as used in the sensitivity analysis
for 2006
Possible
closing rate

Possible
average rate

3.46% 7.95 - 8.53
7.77 - 8.34
1.03% 8.96 - 9.15
9.15 - 9.34
0.15% 7.45 - 7.47
7.45 - 7.47
8.89% 1.20 - 1.44
1.15 - 1.37
6.22% 1.90 - 2.15
1.87 - 2.12
8.73% 2.17 - 2.58
2.06 - 2.45
2.90% 0.67 - 0.71
0.67 - 0.71
4.04% 26.42 - 28.65 27.16 - 29.45

net income) (2006: EUR 0.04 million or 1.2% of net income)
higher/lower while the translation reserves in equity would
have been EUR 0.3 million (1.3% of total equity) (2006: EUR
0.6 million or 3.4 % of total equity) higher/lower.
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Valuation Rules
Credit Risks
Credit risk encompasses all forms of counterparty exposure,
i.e. where counterparties may default on their obligations to
Zenitel in relation to lending, hedging and other financial
activities. The Company has policies in place to monitor and
control counterparty credit risk.

For major projects the intervention of credit insurance companies or similar organizations is requested. The credit risk
on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

Zenitel mitigates its exposure to counterparty credit risk
through counterparty credit guidelines, diversification of
counterparties, working within agreed counterparty limits and
through setting limits on the maturity of financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.
The Group considers its maximum exposure to credit risk to
be as follows:
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

MILLIONS OF EUR

Finance lease receivables
Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Bank deposits
Total

2007

2006

1.1
0.2
25.5
4.3
31.1

1.3
0.2
28.2
0.9
30.5

The majority of the Group’s receivables are due within 90 days and largely comprise receivables from consumers and business
customers.

Liquidity risk
funding, the Group is continuously aiming to increase the
available committed credit lines.

Liquidity risk is linked to the evolution of our current assets
and current liabilities. The Group monitors the changes in
these current assets and liabilities through regular monitoring
and ratio-calculation. In order to increase the flexibility in

The following table sets forth details of the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilitiesas at 31 December 2007 and 2006:
Total

MILLIONS OF EUR

Bank overdrafts
Trade payables
Bank borrowings*
Shareholders' loans
Finance lease liabilities*

Total
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0.8
19.2
13.2
0.0
5.3
38.5

31 December 2007
Payment Payment due
due within later than one
one year or year but not
less
later than
5 years

Payment
due later
than 5
years

Total

0.0
0.0
7.3
0.0
2.1
9.4

0.0
0.0
3.1
0.0
2.7
5.8

0.4
20.3
12.0
6.8
5.9
45.4

0.8
19.2
2.8
0.0
0.5
23.3
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31 December 2006
Payment Payment due
due within later than one
one year or year but not
less
later than
5 years

Payment
due later
than 5
years

0.0
0.0
3.5
0.0
2.7
6.2

0.0
0.0
1.1
0.0
2.7
3.7

0.4
20.3
7.4
6.8
0.6
35.4
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Valuation Rules
Interest Rate Risks
swap contracts or forward interest rate contracts. The following table sets forth details of the remaining outstanding debt
as per year end, with their corresponding average interest
rates.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the
Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates.
The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between mixed and floating rate borrowings. As
per year end 2007 and 2006, the Group has no interest rate
Outstanding
debt
31 December
2007

Interest
charge
2007

Average
interest rate
2007

Possible Outstanding
volatility of
debt
rate 31 December
2006
2007

Interest
charge
2006

Average
interest rate
2006

Possible
volatility of
rate
2006

MILLIONS OF EUR

Bank overdrafts
Bank borrowings
Shareholders' loans
Finance lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities

Total

0.9
10.6
0.0
3.9
0.0
15.3

8.3%
0.3
5.4%
7.4%
0.7
5.4%
5.8%
0.1
5.4%
7.0%
0.3
Fixed rate
0.0 Not applicable Not applicable
1.4

0.4
10.3
6.8
4.2
0.0
21.6

9.0%
0.1
6.1%
7.3%
0.7
10.2%
5.2%
0.1
10.2%
7.0%
0.3
Fixed rate
0.0 Not applicable Not applicable
1.3

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rate is mainly determined
by the floating rate on both the short term bank borrowings
and the shareholder loans, on which an interest rate of
EURIBOR + 2% is applicable.
When we apply the reasonably possible increase/decrease in
the market interest rate (volatilities as indicated in the table
above), with all other variables held constant, the 2007 net
result would have been EUR 0.04 million lower/higher (2006:
EUR 0.07 million lower/higher). The impact on interest
income on interest bearing financial assets (such as finance
lease receivables and cash deposits) was not included in
this calculation as this impact is only limited.
The estimated volatilities in 2007 and 2006 as indicated in
the table above are based on average deviations of the
interest rate during the respective years.

Equity Risks
The company holds investments in TetraNet Denmark (0.6%)
and Bejing Nera Stentofon Comm. Equipment (China) (14%).
Refer to note 22 of these financial statements.
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Critical Judgments In Applying
The Entities Accounting
Policies and Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in this section, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
The following are the critical judgements that management
has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effects on the
amounts recognized in the financial statements.

Impairment of Goodwill
Goodwill arising from acquisitions represents the excess of
the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill arising on consolidation is tested annually for impairment or more frequent if
there are indications that the goodwill might be impaired, in
accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets. This standard also requires that the goodwill should, from the acquisition date, be allocated to each of the cash generating units
(CGU’s) or groups of cash generating units that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination.
The CGU’s to which goodwill has been allocated were tested
for impairment at the balance sheet date by comparing the
carrying amount of the unit with the recoverable amount
(higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use).
In application of the value-in-use method, Zenitel management
prepared cash flow forecasts for the CGU or group of CGU’s,
where the CGU’s are considered to be the company’s legal
entities or business unit. The key assumptions included in the
value in use calculation comprise the discount factor and the
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projected future net cash flows on products and services. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is the weighted
average cost of capital (WACC) is 14,5% for all CGU’s.
The components for the determination of the WACC are
based on sector-specific parameters received from various
banks and analysts and taking into account the financial
position of Zenitel and historical performance of the individual CGU.
All CGU’s require a WACC exceeding 100% before the goodwill is impaired.
The numbers used in the cash flow projection, relate to the
2008 budgets which have been submitted by management to
the Board. As from 2009, the following growth rates have
been used:
CGU1: Intercom – 2009 : 11% - 2010: 15% - 2011: 5% 2012: 4% - 2013 and beyond: sales growth 2.2%
and equal to inflation
CGU2: Netherlands – 2009 and beyond: sales growth 2.2%
and equal to inflation
CGU3: Finland – 2009 and beyond: sales growth 2.2% and
equal to inflation
CGU4: Belgium – 2009 and beyond: sales growth 2.2% and
equal to inflation
Sensitivity analysis shows that, the following sales growth
rates would necessitate goodwill impairments:
CGU1:
CGU2:
CGU3:
CGU4:

Intercom – 0% sales growth as from 2009
Netherlands – -10% sales growth as from 2009
Finland – -4% sales growth as from 2009
Belgium – -1% sales growth as from 2009

Management determined these assumptions based on past
performance and its expectations with respect to the market
development.
For 2006 and 2007, no impairment losses were accounted for.
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Valuation Rules
Going Concern
The balance sheet as per 31 December 2007 shows a loss
carried forward of EUR -22.4 million. Nevertheless, the board
of directors is of the opinion that the application of the existing valuation rules, under going concern is still justified.
In 2007, the company has been able to successfully conclude a EUR 19.8 million capital increase and obtained a
EUR 5 million long term loan. These financing cash flows,
have enabled Zenitel to substantially strengthen its balance
sheet. At the same time, investments in both tangible and
intangible non-current assets are now to a large extent
financed by shareholders’ equity and long term financing. At
the same time, the company further relies on the continued
support from its credit institutions.
The Board believes in the chosen strategy, with continued
focus on critical communication through 3 Key Offerings:
Secure Communication Services (mainly Intercom), Networks
and System Integration. The Secure Communication Services
area has started to show its full potential in 2007, where
intercom sales further increased both in the onshore market
as in the marine segment. The market for TETRA Networks
services is reacting slower than expected, however, the
Board believes in its potential with Zenitel Caribbean
(ChuChubi) as an example. At the same time, and after the
capital increase, substantial investments in the MCCN TETRA
network have been done, delivering coverage in the important industrial areas in both the Netherlands and Belgium.
The System Integration business however is a quickly altering segment, moving away from a mere third party product
distributor to a full value-added services business. This
change is happening faster than expected, after the roll-out
of the public TETRA networks in both the Netherlands and
Belgium and has forced the Board to take additional restructuring measures. The Board believes that the new restructuring efforts should allow this business to slowly redefine itself,
allowing higher margins on sales.
Continued focus on profitable activities, efforts to constantly
better align the different subsidiaries to their market size and
share, and the implements of adequate procedures will further allow mitigation of the risks that are linked to the
different types of businesses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Revenue
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Revenue from the sale of goods
Revenue from the rendering of services
Total revenue

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

65,142
30,122
95,264

85,893
29,420
115,313

In the table above, the goods that are part of an entire system integration project have been included as service revenues, as
these goods are part of an entire solution sold by the Company.
Included in the total revenues in the table above are the revenues of Zenitel Colsys s.r.o and Zenitel UK Ltd., who were respectively
sold in April 2007 and June 2006.
Their share of revenue included in the above presented figures is as follows:
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Revenue from the sale of goods
Revenue from the rendering of services
Revenue from discontinued operations
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2007

2006

2,576
0
2,576

12,263
220
12,483
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2. Operating segments
Zenitel has early adopted IFRS 8 in 2006, adopting its segment reporting, to the management reporting of the Zenitel Group.
This has been done, because management, reporting and decisions are made on a regional level.
For management purposes, the Group is organized into three major regions each with focus on Zenitel's key offerings - Europe 1,
Europe 2 and NAUI. These regions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. This structure is
also the basis for the Group's organization & management reporting. The principal products and services and the location of the
servicing group subsidiaries of each of these divisions are as follows:

Europe 1 (EU1)

Products and services
Mainly Networks and System Integration

Europe 2 (EU2)
NAUI

Mainly System Integration
Mainly own Products (Intercom/Tetra repeaters)

Location of servicing subsidiaries
Netherlands, Caribbean, Denmark,
(Czech Republic), (UK)
Belgium, France
Norway, Sweden, Finland, Singapore,
USA, Italy

In the following table, revenues from external customers attributed to the entity's country of domicile and revenues from external
customers attributed to individual foreign countries, where those revenues are material (i.e. larger than 10% of total group
revenues from external customers) are disclosed.
Revenues from external customers were attributed to individual countries based on the location of the servicing company.
THOUSANDS OF EUR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Revenues from external customers attributed to
Belgium (country of domicile)
Norway
Netherlands
(Czech Republic)
Other foreign countries
Total

2007
15,706
29,510
8,887
2,575
38,586
95,264

2006
18,448
28,278
15,725
11,680
41,182
115,313

The following table gives an overview of the non-current assets that are located in the entity's country of domicile and in other
foreign countries. Non-current assets located in individual countries have only been disclosed if considered material.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Non-current assets, located in
Belgium (country of domicile)
Caribbean
Netherlands
Norway
Other foreign countries
Total

2007

2006

12,979
4,970
4,214
6,285
2,096
30,544

12,927
5,333
3,475
6,715
2,063
30,513

For further information about geographical area's, we refer to note 2.d below.
No customer accounts for 5% or more of the Group's total net sales and trade accounts receivable.
The largest customers account for approximately 3.5%, 2.6% and 1.9% respectively of Group net sales.
The highest amounts of trade accounts receivable outstanding are approximately 4.4%, 3.1% and 3.1% respectively of the Group's accounts receivable at December 31, 2007.
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2. a Segment revenue and segment result

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Segment revenue
2006
2007

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Europe 1
Europe 2
NAUI

23,727
26,036
45,501
95,264

44,082
28,809
42,422
115,313

Unallocated operating expenses
Financial results
Loss before tax
Income tax expense
Net loss for the year

Segment result
2007
2006
(6,177)
(4,957)
7,376
(3,758)
(6,888)
(1,653)
(12,299)
(166)
(12,465)

494
5,957
5,418
11,869
(13,473)
(1,891)
(3,495)
(156)
(3,651)

Revenue reported above represents revenue from external customers. Inter segment sales amounted to EUR 3.204K
(2006: EUR 2.930K).
The unallocated operating expenses in 2007 consist of the costs included in the support centers of Zenitel Norway ASA and
Zenitel NV (holding costs) for a total of EUR 6.9 million. These costs relate to the operating expenses for corporate marketing,
product management, product development for the different product lines of Zenitel and relate to the other holding costs, such
as publications, stock exchange, controlling and general management together with EUR 0.7 million depreciation and
amortization costs. The remaining unallocated expenses relate mainly to termination benefits.
The unallocated expenses in 2006 mainly relate to
1)
a conditional waiver by Zenitel NV to Zenitel Wireless France for EUR -4.5 million.
2)
The costs included in the support centers of Zenitel Norway ASA and Zenitel NV (holding cost) for a
total of EUR 8.0 million. These costs relate to the costs for corporate marketing, product
management, product development for the different product lines of Zenitel and relate to the other
holding costs, such as publications, stock exchange, controlling and general management. These
costs also include EUR -0.6 million depreciation cost.
Please also refer to the Report of the Board for recurrent EBIT and recurrent EBITDA figures per region.

2.b Segment assets and segment liabilities

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Assets
2007

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Europe 1
Europe 2
NAUI
Unallocated
Consolidated

17,928
24,179
29,308
12,712
84,127

2006
27,564
22,667
26,980
9,903
87,114

Liabilities
2006
2007
14,372
17,955
10,099
17,568
59,994

21,112
13,163
8,525
26,185
68,985

Unallocated assets mainly relate to the leased head office building (EUR 5.9 million), cash deposits (EUR 3.1 million) and other intangible assets (EUR 2.2 million) .
Unallocated liabilities consist mainly of the Group borrowings contracted by Zenitel NV and Norway ASA (refer to note 28).
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2.c Other segment information

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Depreciation and
amortization
2006
2007

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Europe 1
Europe 2
NAUI
Unallocated
Consolidated

1,665
61
262
715
2,703

1,673
33
360
557
2,623

2.d Information on geographical segments

Additions to
non-current assets
2007
2006
4,715
132
286
330
5,463

2,900
487
105
673
4,165

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Revenue, assets and capital expenditures are attributed to geographic area's based on the location of the servicing company:
Europe , North America and Other countries (the Dutch Antilles and Singapore).

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Europe
Northern America
Other countries
Unallocated
Consolidated

Revenue from
external customers
2006
2007
79,852
4,522
10,890

100,524
4,716
10,073

95,264

115,313

Segment assets
2007

2006

59,463
1,508
10,444
12,712
84,127

65,719
1,222
10,270
9,903
87,114

Additions to
non-current assets
2006
2007
2,276
14
1,202
673
4,165
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3. Other gains and losses
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Rental income
Costs recovered from third parties
Others
Total other gains and losses

4. Raw materials and consumables used
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Supplies
Subcontractors
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
Other
Total raw materials and consumables used

5. Employee benefits expense

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

157
256
45
458

122
221
180
523

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

46,449
2,045
(2,212)
682
46,964

58,873
1,836
(1,403)
2,594
61,900

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

26,654
5,062
4,060
1,022
36,798

26,865
5,167
(53)
1,054
33,033

Termination benefits

1,164

78

Pension costs - defined contribution plans
Pension costs - defined benefit plans
Pension costs

959
908
1,867

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Reorganization expenses
Other employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Share based compensation
Total employee benefits expense
Average number of employees
Workers
Employees
Management

929
1,496
2,425

27

49

39,856

35,585

483
464
19

620
57
544
19

Total reorganization costs in 2007 amounted to EUR 5.4 million, of which EUR 5.2 million is included in the employee benefit expenses and EUR 0.2 million in the Other expenses.
EUR 1.2 of these reorganization expenses were already paid in 2007, and are shown in the termination benefits line of the table above. The remaining EUR 4.0 million
reorganization employee benefit expenses (shown as reorganization expenses in 2007) resulted in an increase of the restructuring provision in 2007.
.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
6. Facility expenses

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Housing costs (rent & utilities)
Telecom expenses
Insurances
Other facility costs
Total facility expenses

7. Other expenses
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Advertising, publicity and fairs
Travel & related costs
Car expenses
Costs related to old projects
Other
Changes of sundry provisions
Loss on disposal of interest in an affiliated company
Total other expenses

2007

2006

3,020
440
865
1,930
6,255

3,604
459
867
2,275
7,205

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

NOTES

14

2007

2006

864
2,060
1,795
1,027
37
241
392
6,416

656
1,973
2,145
800
(842)
84
4,816

EUR 0.2 million restructuring expenses are included in the changes of sundry provisions line in the table above and resulted in an increase of the Other provisions by EUR 0.2 million.
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8. Research & development cost
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Research and development costs

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

1,631

1,921

Whereof EUR 1.529K (EUR 1.129K in 2006) were included in the Employee benefits expense (Wages and salaries).
Besides these expensed research & development costs, EUR 781K were capitalized in 2007 (EUR 364K in 2006).

9. Finance income
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Interest on bank accounts
Interest on financial leases
Other (aggregate of immaterial items)
Total finance income

10. Finance costs
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans
Interest on obligations under finance lease
Other financial charges
Total finance costs

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

147
64
50
261

25
59
12
96

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

1,068
278
475
1,821

1,028
321
247
1,596

The weighted average interest rate on funds borrowed generally is 8.2 % per annum (2006: 6.0% per annum).

11. Net foreign exchange gains / (losses)
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Foreign exchange rates losses
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Other (both realized and unrealized)
Foreign exchange rate gains
Fair value adjustments on financial instruments
Other (both realized and unrealized)
Net foreign exchange gains / (losses)
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12. Income taxes

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

NOTES

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Current tax expense/(income)
Adjustments recognized in the current year in relation to current tax of prior years
Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences
Effect of changes in tax rates and laws
Write-downs (reversals of previous write-downs) of deferred tax assets
Total income tax expense/(income)

20

2007

2006

156
10
166

148
8
156

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arize
using the tax rate of the home country as follows:
Loss before tax
Tax calculated at tax rate of 33.99%
Effects of:
- Different tax rates in other countries
- Income not subject to tax
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
- Utilisation of previously unrecognized tax losses
- Unrecognized tax losses of the current year
Total income tax expense/(income)

2007

2006

(12,299)
(4,180)

(3,495)
(1,188)

(80)
(213)
891
(886)
4,634
166

(65)
(9)
250
(479)
1,647
156
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13. Earnings per share

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

13.1 Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net result attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares issued during the year, excluding ordinary shares purchased by the Company, held as treasury shares.

Basic earnings per share

2007
(0.89)

2006
(0.38)

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:
Net profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders (thousands of EUR)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings
per share (all measures) - See note 34

(12,465)

(3,651)

13,984,058

9,613,723

13.2 Diluted earnings per share
For the calculation of the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued is adjusted to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
warrants. For these warrants, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at market
price (the latter being determined as the average annual share price of the Company's shares) based on the monetary value of
the subscription rights attached to outstanding warrants to determine the 'bonus' element; the 'bonus' shares are added to the
ordinary shares in issue. No adjustment is made to net profit.

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of
basic earnings per share (all measures) - See note 34
Adjustments for warrants
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
For 2007 and 2006, no dilutive effect because the warrants are out of the money.
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14. Acquisitions & Divestments
ACQUISITIONS
None
DIVESTMENTS
Disposal of Zenitel Colsys s.r.o.
On April 23, 2007, Zenitel Norway ASA, a subsidiary of Zenitel NV, sold Zenitel Colsys s.r.o. to BE Colsys a.s., a company which
is mainly owned by industrial investors in the Czech Republic. The divestment of Zenitel Colsys s.r.o. occurred in line with the
group strategy, to focus on Secure Communication Systems and Services. The transaction price amounted to CZK 80.4 million
(approximately EUR 2.8 million). The transaction resulted in a transaction loss of approximately EUR 0.4 million.
Disposal of Zenitel UK Ltd.
On June 30, 2006, the Group sold 85% of its stake in the UK subsidiary, Zenitel UK Ltd.
In the context of this sale, Zenitel NV waived its receivable (EUR 111K) against Zenitel UK.
Details of these disposals are as follows:
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Book value of net assets sold
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Inventories
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill on consolidation
Other non-curent assets
Current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Net assets disposed of
Realized translation difference
Net consideration
Waiver of debt from Zenitel NV
Loss on disposal
Total

Colsys
s.r.o.

Zenitel
UK Ltd.

31 March 2007 30 June 2006
704
2,681
542
214

34
304
138
102

1,071
53
919
144

59
-

2,471
377

553
-

23

111
-

3,457
(308)
(2,757)
(392)
0

(27)
111
(84)
0

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 7 - F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S

ZENITEL

37

Zenitel RA 2007-UK-Financier BB 2:Zenitel RA 2007 Financier

20/03/08

19:18

Page 38

Financial Statements 2007

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
THOUSANDS OF EUR

31 March 2007 30 June 2006

Consideration
Consideration paid in cash and cash equivalents
Deffered sales proceeds
Total consideration

2,757
2,757

0

2,757
(327)
2,430

77
77

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Net cash inflow on disposal
Consideration paid in cash and cash equivalents
Less cash, cash equivalent and borrowing balances disposed of
Net cash inflow on disposal
Individual Income statement and cash flow of Colsys s.r.o and Zenitel UK,
as included in the Group's consolidated financial statements of 2007 and 2006:

Colsys s.r.o.
Zenitel UK Ltd.
January to January to
January to
December
March
June
2006
2007
2006

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Revenue
Change in the value of contracts in progress ( increase/(decrease) )
Other operating income
Total revenues

2,201
375
4
2,580

11,905
(253)
27
11,679

830
830

Total operating expenses including finance costs

(2,530)

(11,566)

(864)

50
50

114
(43)
71

(35)
(6)
(40)

302
(31)
(8)
263

1,168
(245)
(201)
(13)
709

(81)
(1)
(82)

Profit before tax
Attributable income tax expenses
Profit/(loss) of the period
Net cash flow from operating activities
Net cash flow from investing activities
Net cash flow from financing activities
Foreign currency translation difference
Net cash flow of the period
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15. Non-current assets classified as held for sale
As described in note 14, the Group disposed on April 23, 2007 of its Czech subsidiary, Zenitel Colsys s.r.o..
The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the Zenitel Colsys operation were classified as held for
sale at 31 December 2006.
On initial reclassification of this operation as held for sale in 2006, no impairment losses were recognized.
The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the Zenitel Colsys operation were classified as held for
sale as follows on the following balance sheet date:

31 DECEMBER

2006

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Receivables long-term
Deferred tax assets long-term
Inventories
Contracts in progress
Trade debtors
Other amounts receivable
Deferred charges and accrued income
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets of Zenitel Colsys classified as held for sale

1,135
52
147
130
12
4,250
146
568
6,440

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Retirement benefit obligations
Deferred tax liabilities long-term
Provisions long-term
Other long-term liabilities
Trade payables
Other short-term payables
Short-term borrowings
Current tax liabilities
Provisions short-term
Liabilities of Zenitel Colsys associated with assets classified as held for sale

24
2,760
503
534
29
57
3,907

Net assets of Zenitel Colsys classified as held for sale

2,533
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16. Property, plant and equipment
Land &
buildings

Installation &
machinery

Furniture,
fixtures &
vehicles

Other
tangible
assets

Total

8,308
(1,124)
(37)
55
7,202
(423)
6,779

8,567
184
(75)
(3,787)
(612)
(55)
(80)
4,142
186
(4)
5
20
4,349

7,074
391
(99)
(1,319)
(21)
(76)
5,950
246
(28)
344
(50)
6,462

6,472
4,380
(3,648)
3,787
(502)
10,489
2,840
(97)
74
(708)
12,598

30,421
4,955
(3,822)
(3,055)
(113)
(603)
27,783
3,272
(129)
(738)
30,188

(1,050)
(222)
377
21
(18)
(892)
(136)

(4,196)
(312)
18
194
518
30
75
(3,673)
(252)

192
(836)

(7)
(20)
(3,952)

(5,596)
(555)
15
47
1,025
3
54
(5,007)
(329)
28
(192)
9
(5,491)

(4,449)
(1,149)
3,166
(241)
60
(2,613)
(1,393)
94
7
179
(3,726)

(15,291)
(2,238)
3,199
1,920
54
171
(12,185)
(2,110)
122
168
(14,005)

6,310
5,943

469
397

943
971

7,876
8,872

15,598
16,183

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Cost or valuation
Balance as at 1 January 2006
Additions
Disposals
Transfer from one heading to another
Reclassified as assets held for sale
Disposals through sale of subsidiaries
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance as at 1 January 2007
Additions
Disposals
Transfer from one heading to another
Reclassified as assets held for sale
Disposals through sale of subsidiaries
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2007
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance as at 1 January 2006
Depreciation expense
Eliminated on disposals of assets
Transfer from one heading to another
Acquisition through business combination
Reclassified as assets held for sale
Disposals through sale of subsidiaries
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance as at 1 January 2007
Depreciation expense
Eliminated on disposals of assets
Transfer from one heading to another
Reclassified as assets held for sale
Disposals through sale of subsidiaries
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2007
Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2006
As at 31 December 2007

As of December 31, 2007, the carrying amount of fixed assets held under finance leases amounted to EUR 5.9 million (EUR 6.2 million as of December 31, 2006). This mainly
relates to the head office building in Zellik.
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17. Goodwill

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

Cost
Balance at beginning of year
Derecognized on disposal of a subsidiary
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at end of year

64,988
(940)
791
64,839

65,593
(605)
64,988

Accumulated impairment losses
Balance at beginning of year
Derecognized on disposal of a subsidiary
Impairment losses recognized in the year
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at end of year

(56,433)
40
(723)
(57,116)

(56,976)
543
(56,433)

8,555
7,723

8,617
8,555

181
320
3,189
4,033

892
181
320
3,189
3,972

7,723

8,555

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Carrying amount
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year
Which is allocated as follows:
Zenitel Colsys s.r.o. (held for sale)
Zenitel Finland Oy
Zenitel Netherlands B.V.
Zenitel Belgium N.V.
Intercom: Zenitel Norway ASA, Zenitel Marine Sweden A.B., Zenitel CSS France S.A.,
Zenitel Italy, Zenitel USA Inc, Zenitel Singapore Ltd
Total

Goodwill arising from acquisitions represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. In
accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill arising on consolidation is tested annually for impairment or more frequent if there are indications that the goodwill might be impaired, in accordance with
IAS 36, Impairment of Assets. This standard also requires that the goodwill should, from the acquisition date, be allocated to each of the cash generating units (CGU’s) or groups of cash
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination.The CGU’s to which goodwill has been allocated were tested for impairment at the balance
sheet date by comparing the carrying amount of the unit with the recoverable amount (higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use).
In application of the value-in-use method, Zenitel management prepared cash flow forecasts for the CGU or group of CGU’s, where the CGU’s are considered to be the
Company’s legal entities or business unit. The key assumptions included in the value in use calculation comprise the discount factor and the projected future net cash flows on
products and services. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of 14.5% for all CGU's.
The components for the determination of the WACC are based on sector-specific parameters received from various banks and analysts and taking into account the financial
position of Zenitel and historical performance of the individual CGU.
All CGU's require a WACC exceeding 100%, before a goodwill is impaired.
The numbers used in the cash flow projection, relate to the 2008 budgets which have been submitted by management to the Board. As from 2009, the following growth rates
have been used:
CGU1: Intercom - 2009 : 11% - 2010: 15% - 2011: 5% - 2012: 4% - 2013 and beyond: sales growth 2.2% and equal to inflation
CGU2: Netherlands - 2009 and beyond: sales growth 2.2% and equal to inflation
CGU3: Finland - 2009 and beyond: sales growth 2.2% and equal to inflation
CGU4: Belgium - 2009 and beyond: sales growth 2.2% and equal to inflation
Sensitivity analysis shows that the following sales growth rates would necessitate goodwill impairments:
CGU1: Intercom - 0% sales growth as from 2009
CGU2: Netherlands -10% sales growth as from 2009
CGU3: Finland -4% sales growth as from 2009
CGU4: Belgium -1% sales growth as from 2009
Management determined these assumptions based on past performance and its expectations with respect to the market development.
For 2006 and 2007, no impairment losses were accounted for.
The Company cannot predict whether an event that triggers impairment will occur, when it will occur or how it will affect the asset values reported. Zenitel believes that all of its
estimates are reasonable: they are consistent with the internal reporting and reflect management's best estimates. However, inherent uncertainties exist that management may not
be able to control. While a change in estimates used could have a material impact on the calculation of the fair values and trigger an impairment charge, the Company is not
aware of any reasonably possible change in key assumptions used that would cause a business unit's carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
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18. Other intangible assets
Capitalized
development

Software,
licenses

Total

2,027
1,624
403
390
(821)
62
(21)
1,637
1,165
472
781
32
2,450
1,929
521

2,334
2,334
118
(123)
(62)
(142)
(12)
2,113
2,113
72
(6)
2,179
2,179

4,361
1,624
2,737
508
(944)
(142)
(33)
3,750
1,165
2,585
853
26
4,629
1,929
2,700

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2006
- internally generated
- externally acquired
Additions (including internally generated)
Cancellations
Transfer from one heading to another
Reclassified as held for sale
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance as at 1 January 2007
- internally generated
- externally acquired
Additions (including internally generated)
CancellationsTransfer from one heading to another
Reclassified as held for sale
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2007
- internally generated
- externally acquired
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THOUSANDS OF EUR

Capitalized
development

Software,
licenses

(948)
(148)
821
(43)
(1)
(319)
(313)
(632)

(1,800)
(237)
121
43
90
9
(1,774)
(207)
4
(1,977)

(2,748)
(385)
942

1,318
1,818

339
202

1,657
2,020

Accumulated amortization and impairment
Balance as at 1 January 2006
Amortization expense
Impairment charge
Amortization cancelled (disposals)
Transfer from one heading to another
Reclassified as held for sale
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance as at 1 January 2007
Amortization expense
Impairment charge
Amortization cancelled (disposals)
Transfer from one heading to another
Reclassified as held for sale
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2007
Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2006
As at 31 December 2007

Total

90
8
(2,093)
(520)
4
(2,609)

Capitalized development costs principally comprise internally generated expenditure on major projects where it is reasonably anticipated that the costs will generate future
economic benefits.
The amortization expense has been included in the line item 'Depreciation and amortization expense' in the income statement.

19. Net impairment on current assets
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Impairment charge on inventories
Impairment charge on receivables
Reversal of impairment charge on inventories
Reversal of impairment charge on receivables
Total impairment on current assets

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

603
531
(176)
(115)
843

627
215
(120)
(2)
720
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20. Deferred income taxes

31 DECEMBER

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 31.5%
(2006: 31.5 %). This percentage being the weighted average rate of the countries in which deferred taxes were recognized.
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss as carried forward to the extent that the realization of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The long term business plan has served as input to determine the basis on
which the amounts of deferred tax assets have been recognized.
The deferred income tax asset relates to a part of the tax losses carried forward of Zenitel Belgium NV, Zenitel Netherlands and
Zenitel Norway ASA, originating from loss situations of these subsisdiaries in previous years.
The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

NOTES

THOUSANDS OF EUR

At the beginning of the year
- deferred tax liability
- deferred tax asset
Exchange differences
Income statement (credit)/charge
Other changes
At the end of the year
Recognized in the balance sheet as
- deferred tax liability
- deferred tax liability included in the liabilities directly associated to assets classified as held for sale
- deferred tax asset

12

2007

2006

(2,348)
(39)
10
(2,377)

8
(2,381)
41
8
(2,324)

(2,377)

24
(2,348)

The movement in the deffered tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting balances within the same tax juridiction) during the
period is a follows:
Deferred tax liabilities

At 31 December, 2005
Charged/(credited) to P/L
Other changes
Exchange differences
At 31 December, 2006
Charged/(credited) to P/L
Other changes
Exchange differences
At 31 December, 2007
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on net PBO Accelerated tax
assets
depreciation

195
9
204
(2)
(1)
201

Provisions

Leasing

Goodwill

Other

Total

0
0
0

359
(136)
3
226
9
(60)

1,471
(14)
1,457
(55)
1,402

84
(41)
43
(31)
(3)
1
10

2,228
(172)
0
(17)
2,039
(120)
(63)
(56)
1,800

119
(4)
(6)
109
(96)
(1)
12
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Deferred tax assets

At 31 December, 2005
Charged/(credited) to P/L
Exchange differences
At 31 December, 2006
Charged/(credited) to P/L
Other changes
Exchange differences
At 31 December, 2007

Net PBO
Liabilities

(133)
4
(129)
(24)
(1)
(154)

Impairments

(1,211)
(28)
34
(1,205)
776
21
3
(405)

Tax
losses

(3,002)
186
13
(2,803)
(217)
16
(3,004)

Provisions

Depreciation

(212)
14
3
(195)
53
18
(124)

(5)
6
1
(453)
(2)
(454)

Other

(38)
2
3
(33)
(5)
2
(36)

Total

(4,601)
180
57
(4,364)
130
39
18
(4,177)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax relate to the same fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined
after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the consolidated balance sheet:
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities included in liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale
Total

2007

2006

(2,377)
(2,377)

(2,348)
24
(2,324)

For companies in the Group with tax losses carried forward, we examined the probability that future taxable profits would be
available against which the unused tax loss credits would be utilized. Listed hereafter are the companies of the Group, with
specification of the available losses carried forward, for which no deferred tax assets were set up.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
THOUSANDS OF EUR

2007

2006

33,463
29,981
16,561
2,156
2,745
1,966
460
7,515
0
21,100
0
5,928
2,102

27,590
28,680
16,544
1,653
3,665
1,589
629
7,153
0
17,935
0
4,868
2,106

Company

Zenitel Belgium
Zenitel NV
Zenitel Devlonics
Zenitel Caribbean
Zenitel Wireless France
Zenitel Radioteknik
Zenitel Finland
Zenitel Denmark
Zenitel Singapore
Zenitel Netherlands
Zenitel Marine Sweden
Zenitel Wireless Norway (Tetranor)
Zenitel CSS France
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Unrecognized tax losses of the year relate to the following companies:
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
THOUSANDS OF EUR

2007

2006

0
0
362
503
2,621
177
17
5,800
0
0
0
377
0
1,844
0
295
96
242
1,301
13,635

648
56
60
131
1,173
141
28
0
0
128
0
0
0
53
50
131
0
338
1,909
4,846

Company

Zenitel Wireless France
Zenitel CSS France
Zenitel Denmark
Zenitel Caribbean
Zenitel Netherlands
MCCN Belgium
Zenitel Devlonics
Zenitel Belgium
Zenitel Wireless Norway
Zenitel Norway AS
Zenitel Finland
Zenitel Radioteknik
Zenitel Colsys
MCCN The Netherlands
Zenitel USA
Zenitel Italy
Zenitel Marine Sweden
Zenitel Finance Netherlands
Zenitel NV
Total
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
21. Finance lease receivables

31 DECEMBER

2007

THOUSANDS OF EUR

379
730
1,109

Current finance lease receivables
Non-current finance lease receivables
Total
Finance lease receivables (where a group company is lessor):

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Gross receivables from finance leases:
Within one year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 year
Less unearned finance income
Present value of minimum lease payments
Allowance for uncollectible lease payments
Total

2006
,

437
837
1,274

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Minimum lease
payments
2007
2006
426
925
4
1,355
(246)
1,109
0
1,109

491
1,041
34
1,566
(292)
1,274
0
1,274

Present value of minimum
lease payments
2007
2006
379
728
2
1,109
n/a
1,109
0
1,109

437
816
21
1,274
n/a
1,274
0
1,274

Some Group companies, as lessors, are leasing installations with a minimal duration of 60 months, with a tacit renewal of 12 months at the end of the initial period. At the
inception of the contract, the net present value of the future minimal lease payments’ receivable is at least 100 % of the fair value of the leased asset. In case of anticipated
interruption before the end of the contractual duration, a penalty is due equaling 50 % of the residual payments’ receivable.
Unguaranteed residual values of assets leased under finance leases at balance sheet date are estimated to be nihil (2006: nihil).
The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixed at the contract date for the entire lease term. The average effective interest rate contracted is 6% (2006: 6 %).
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22. Other financial assets
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Available for sale investments
Long term guarantee paid in cash
Others
Total other financial assets

Available for sale investments :

31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

317
328
168
813

301
311
236
848

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

At the beginning of the year
Acquisition
Disposals
Net foreign currency exchange differences
At the end of the year

301
13
3
317

296
10
(5)
301

The breakdown of the outstanding balance is as follows:
- TetraNet (Denmark):
- Bejing Nera Stentofon Comm. Equipment (China):
- Other (Norway)
Total

116
197
4
317

103
194
4
301

THOUSANDS OF EUR

The available-for-sale investments are accounted at fair value. Fair values are assessed on a regular basis and at the end of 2007, no objective evidence indicates that availablefor-sale investments are impaired.

23. Inventories
31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

Raw material
Goods purchased for resale
Subtotal

2,152
10,280
12,432

516
10,131
10,647

Classified as part of disposal group held for sale (note 15)
Total inventories

12,432

130
10,777

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Total inventory write offs amounted to EUR 603K in 2007 (EUR 627K in 2006) and EUR 176K inventory write offs were reversed in 2007 (EUR 120K in 2006). Previous write
downs have been reversed as a result of the identification of new customers and market opportunities for these specific inventory goods.
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24. Contracts in progress

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

THOUSANDS OF EUR

At the beginning of the year
Contract costs incurred plus recognized profits less recognized losses to date
Less: progress billings during the year
Net foreign currency exchange differences
Advances received from customers and included in 'other payables'
At the end of the year
Recognized and included in the financial statements as amounts due:
from customers included in 'current assets classified as held for sale'
from customers included in 'Contracts in progress'

2007

2006

6,514
36,834
(35,751)
6
186
7,789

7,795
32,713
(34,703)
6
703
6,514

7,789

12
6,502

With respect to contracts in progress, the revenue recognition occurs according to the Percentage of Completion Method. In 2007 the total contract revenue recognized
amounted to EUR 15.6 million. (2006: EUR 14.9 million).
The stage of completion is measured based on estimates of the work to be performed to complete the contract.
At 31 December 2007, retentions held by customers for contract work amount to EUR 0.09 million (2006: EUR 0.7 million). Retentions are receivables that will only be paid after
expiry of the guarantee period.

25. Trade and other receivables

31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts
Total trade receivables
Other receivables
Credits to receive from suppliers
Tax receivables, other than income tax
Loan receivable from Colsys (company reported as assets held for sale)
Income tax receivable
Other
Total other receivables

23,902
(1,092)
22,810

26,414
(881)
25,533

241
1,515
152
564
2,472

964
460
921
2,345

Total trade and other receivales

25,282

27,878

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Total trade receivables and other receivables (net of allowances) held by the Group as at 31 December 2007 amounted to EUR 25.3 million (2006: EUR 32.2 million), comprising
the amount presented above (2007: EUR 25.3 million; 2006: EUR 27.9 million) and trade receivables classified as held for sale (2007: nihil; 2006: EUR 4.3 million).
The total amount of trade receivables is presented after deduction of a bad debt allowance of EUR 1.1 million (2006: EUR 0.9 million).
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The ageing of our current trade and other receivables can be detailed as follows:

Trade receivables
Credits to receive from suppliers
Tax receivables, other than income tax
Income tax receivable
Other receivables

Total

Gross
amount as
at 31
December
2007

Of which:
not past
due on the
reporting
date

Past due
less than
30 days

Past due
between
30 and 59
days

23,902
241
1,515
152
564
26,374

15,875
235
1,417
152
516
18,195

3,060
6
12
53
13
3,144

1,355
31
1,386

of wich
Past due
Past due
between
between
60 and 89 90 and 179
days
days

Past due
between
180 and
359 days

768
86
854

521
6
527

488
488

Past due
Valuation Net carrying
more than allowance amount as
359 days for doubtful
at 31
debtors December
2007

1,836
92
4
1,932

(1,092)
(1,092)

22,810
241
1,515
152
564
25,282

Total short term finance lease receivables amount to EUR 379K as of December 31, 2007. None of these amounts are past due.
The average credit period on sales of goods is 91,6 days (2006: 88,5 days). No interest is charged on trade receivables for the first 60 days from the date of the invoice.
Thereafter the interest charged is charged at 2% per annum on the outstanding balance. An estimate is made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all outstanding
amounts at the balance sheet date. An allowance is recognized when there is objective evidence that the individual asset is impaired.

Movement of the allowance for doubtful debtors:
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Balance at beginning of the year:
Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
Decrease / (Increase) in allowance recognized in profit or loss
Translation difference
Balance at end of year

2007

2006

(881)
189
0
(416)
16
(1,092)

(1,489)
823
0
(215)
2
(881)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers periodically any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was originally
granted up to the reporting date. Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the Group’s large number of customers who are internationally
dispersed. Also in many cases governmental institutions cover the credit risk. No customer accounts for 5% or more of the Group's total net sales. The largest customers
accounts for approximately 3.5%, 2.6% and 1.9% respectively of Group net sales. There is no other significant concentration of credit risk. Therefore, management is of the
opinion that inherent credit risk in the group’s receivables is limited. Accordingly, the directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for
doubtfull debtors.

26. Cash and cash equivalents
31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

Cash at bank and in hand
Short term bank deposit
Subtotal

2,627
4,302
6,929

2,739
855
3,594

Cash and cash equivalents included in a disposal group held for sale (note 15)
Total cash and cash equivalents

6,929

568
4,162

THOUSANDS OF EUR

The weighted average effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits amounts to 3.05 % ( 2006: 2.16%).
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27. Trade and other payables
31 DECEMBER
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Trade payables
Remuneration & staff related liabilities
Accrued expenses
Advances received on contracts
Other advances received
Other
Other payables
Total trade and other payables

2007

2006

19,191
6,903
3,378
186
230
1,425
12,122
31,313

20,258
5,705
2,700
703
0
2,586
11,694
31,952

Total trade payables 31 December 2007 amounted to EUR 19.2 million. Total trade payables 31 December 2006 consisted of EUR 20.3 million trade payables as presented in the
table above and EUR 2.8 million trade payables associated with assets classified as held for sale .
Total other payables 31 December 2007 amounted to EUR 12.1 million. Total other payables 31 December 2006 consisted of EUR 11.7 million as detailed in the table above and
EUR 0.5 million other payables associated with assets classified as held for sale.

28. Borrowings

31 DECEMBER

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Non-current
Bank borrowings
Finance lease liabilities
Current
Bank overdraft
Bank borrowings (straight loans)
Shareholders' loans
Current installment of long term loan
Finance lease liabilities
Current borrowings included in the liabilities directly associated
with the disposal group of asset held for sale
Bank borrowings
Finance lease liabilities
Total borrowings

2007

2006

8,266
3,580
11,846

3,688
3,854
7,542

840
1,498
610
273
3,221

420
6,000
6,757
580
301
14,058

15,067

(30)
30
21,600

2007
6.99
5.78
8.18
6.30
8.30

2006
6.98
5.22
8.22
4.87
8.95

The weighted average interest rates per year amounts to:
Leasing
Shareholders' loan
Bank borrowings LT
Bank borrowings ST
Bank overdrafts

The bank borrowings and the shareholders’ loans are secured by a pledge on the Group's current assets, shares of certain subsidiaries and the eventual proceeds of future divestments.
Lease agreements in which Group companies are the lessee, give rise to financial liabilities on the balance sheet, equal at the inception of the lease to the fair value of the leased
property, or if lower at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
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Bank borrowings (originally > 1 year) are payable as follows :
31 December 2007
Total future
Present
Unexpired
payments
value
interest

31 December 2006
Unexpired
Total future
payments
interest
expenses

expenses
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
Later than five years
Total

1,287
7,278
3,104
11,669

677
1,843
273
2,793

610
5,435
2,831
8,876

The financial lease liabilities (mainly for building) are payable as follows.
31 December 2007
Total future
Present
Unexpired
payments
value
interest

896
3,541
1,079
5,516

533
2,131
2,664
5,328

260
825
390
1,475

316
842
90
1,248

31 December 2006
Total future
Unexpired
payments
interest

expenses
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
Later than five years
Total

Present
value
580
2,699
989
4,268

Present
value

expenses
273
1,306
2,274
3,853

579
2,664
2,664
5,907

278
1,084
390
1,752

301
1,580
2,274
4,155

The notional amounts to be paid under the lease agreements are fixed. Lease payments do not include contingent rent.
The leased assets secure lease obligations. At the end of the lease term the Group has the option to further rent the leased asset for a period of three years and then to acquire
the asset for a low price (bargain purchase option).
As of December 31, 2007 the net carrying amount of fixed assets held under finance leases amounted to EUR 5.9 million (EUR 6.2 million as of 31 December 2006).
Bank borrowings are subject to bank covenants. These covenants depend from one credit institution to another.
The covenants on the current bank borrowings relate to ‘adjusted’ equity (being equity minus intangible assets) and to the solvability of the company. The company was in breach
of the covenants on the current bank borrowings per December 31, 2006. After the capital increase, the bank covenants have been restored.
During 2007, a new long term borrowing has been closed for EUR 5 million. This borrowing is subordinated towards the other bank debts.
The nominal interest rate applied is 7%. The duration is 7 years and repayment occurs as from year 3 at 1/5 of the amount.
The long term borrowings in the Caribbean are on a non-recourse basis. These borrowings are secured by customer contracts.
The term of the loans, closed in ANG, in the Caribbean is 3 to 6 years, with a fixed interest rate of 9%. The Caribbean uses the long term borrowings for its local investments.
The financing occurs locally on a non-recourse basis.
Also during 2007, a credit facility has been closed for a total of NOK 25 million. This credit facility offers the ability to borrow up to 60% of the value of the customer invoices. At
the same time, a line of arrangement of up to maximim NOK 10 million is available, offering the ability to borrow up to 25% of the value of inventory. The interest rate on the facility
is set at 6.3%.
Both the current bank borrowings and the shareholder loan have an interest rate equal to EURIBOR + 2%.
The company also holds lines for bank guarantees at different credit institutions for in total almost EUR 13.6 million.
At December 31, 2007, bank guarantees have been granted to secure the completion of some of the customer contracts (mainly
in system integration services). These performance guarantees granted amount to EUR 9.3 million (2006: EUR 10.7 million) in total.
Some of the said bank guarantees are secured by a pledge on the Group's current assets.
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29. Retirement benefit obligations
Some Group companies provide pension plans that under IFRS are considered as defined benefit plans for their employees.
Provisions for pension obligations are established for benefits payable in the form of retirement, disability and surviving
dependents’ pensions. The benefits offered vary according to legal, fiscal and economic conditions of each country. Benefits are
dependent on years of service and respective employee’s compensation and contribution.
The obligation resulting from defined benefit pension plans is determined using the projected unit credit method. Unrecognized
gains and losses resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized as income (expenses) over the expected
remaining service life of the active employees.
Assets have been subject to the recoverability test as described by the IAS 19 statement. The assets have only been recognized
to the lower sum of the unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and the present value of future economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reduction in future contributions of the plan (see adjustments for limit on net
asset).
The amounts recognized in the balance sheet are determined as follows:
31 DECEMBER

NOTES

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Funded status
Present value of unfunded obligations
Unrecognized actuarial gains (losses)
Net Liability
Amount recognized in the balance sheet
Recognized as non current liability
Recognized as current liability
Recognized as non current asset
Net Liability

30
30

2007

2006

10,534
(9,582)
952
959
1,614
3,525

9,849
(8,832)
1,017
1,481
1,882
4,380

3,878
345
(698)
3,525

4,616
434
(670)
4,380

2007

2006

986
529
(457)
(150)
908
(115)

1,312
635
(438)
255
(100)
(168)
1,496
(28)

The amounts recognized in the income statements are as follows:
Current service cost
Interest costs
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial losses recognized in year
Gain on curtailment
Settlement gain
Total
Actual return on plan assets
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
NOTES

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Opening defined benefit obligation
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participants' contributions
Actuarial losses (gains)
Expenses paid
Losses (gains) on curtailments
Liabilities extinguished on settlements
Exchange differences on foreign plans
Benefits paid
Closing defined benefit obligation

2007

2006

11,330
986
529
230
(730)
(23)
(829)
11,493

16,001
1,312
635
253
(4,698)
(30)
(263)
(137)
(392)
(1,351)
11,330

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Opening fair value of plan assets
Expected return
Actuarial gains and (losses)
Contributions by employer
Plan participants' contributions
Expenses paid
Plan settlements
Exchange differences on foreign plans
Benefits paid
Closing fair value of plans assets

2007

2006

8,832
457
(615)
1,521
230
(14)
(829)
9,582

9,004
438
(466)
1,346
253
(30)
(137)
(225)
(1,351)
8,832
31 DECEMBER

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Defined benefit obligation
Plan assets
Surplus/(deficit)
Experience adjustments on plan assets
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities
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2006

2005

(11,493)
9,582
(1,911)
(615)
(376)

(11,330)
8,832
(2,498)
463
(2,860)

(16,001)
9,004
(6,997)
372
(669)
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The major categories of plan assets, and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date for each category, is as follows:
2006
2007
2006
2007
Expected
Expected
Fair value
Fair value
THOUSANDS OF EUR
return
return of plan asset of plan asset
%
%
THOUSANDS OF EUR
0.00
0.00
Equity instruments
0
0
1.57
1.43
Debt instruments
3,423
3,469
0.00
0.00
Real estate
0
0
3.06
3.16
Other
6,159
5,363
2.47
2.54
Weighted average expected return
9,582
8,832
The overall expected rate of return is a weighted average of the expected returns of the various categories of plan assets held. The directors'assessment of the expected returns
is based on historical return trends and analysts' predictions of the market for the asset in the next twelve months.

The principal weighted average actuarial assumptions for all plans used were as follows:
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Weigthed average assumtions to determine benefit obligations
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Rate of price inflation
Weigthed average assumtions to determine the net costs
Discount rate
Expected long term rate of return on plan assets during the financial year
Rate of compensation increase
Rate of price inflation

2007

2006

5.20
4.29
2.22

4.86
3.55
2.17

4.92
4.77
2.77
2.20

4.15
4.63
4.40
2.25
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30. Provisions
Pension Restructuring

Technical
guarantees

Other

Total

967
192
(28)
(107)
(8)
1,016
962
54
1,016

2,297
1,502
(707)
(798)
(12)
2,282
178
2,104
2,282

11,744
2,130
(2 444)
(1 231)
(341)
9,858
4,794
5,010
54
9,858

962
354
(6)
(320)
4
994
994
994

2,282
1,520
(578)
(286)
2,938
300
2,638
2,938

9,804
6,383
(1,908)
(1,050)
(236)
12,993
4,178
8,815
0
12,993

THOUSANDS OF EUR

On 1 January, 2006
Additions to provisions
Payments
Reversal of provisions
Exchange differences
On 31 December, 2006
Non-current
Current
Classified as liabilities associated with assets held for sale
Total

5,700
336
(488)
(173)
(326)
5,049
4,616
433
5,049

2,780
100
(1 221)
(153)
5
1,511
1,511
1,511

On 1 January, 2007
Additions to provisions
Payments
Reversal of provisions
Exchange differences
On 31 December, 2007
Non-current
Current
Classified as liabilities associated with assets held for sale
Total

5,049
449
(592)
(444)
(239)
4,223
3,878
345
4,223

1,511
4,060
(732)
0
(1)
4,838
4,838
4,838

-

Pensions
Due to the restructuring that has been implemented in the previous years, additional pension liabilities (in addition to pension
plans) have been recognized. These relate to pre-pensions. The calculation of these long-term liabilities is based on the
recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.
Restructuring
Restructuring provisions comprise employee termination payments, and are recognized in the period in which the Group becomes
legally or constructively committed to the obligation.
The decrease in the PRC (handsets/mobiles/…) distribution business and the requirements of customers to focus more on integration
of their communication tools with security systems and IT platforms, require different skill sets. In this mindset, restructuring measures
started during September 2007. The Board of Directors of December 2007 stressed the importance of continuing the restructuring
measures, in order to further align the System Integration business and enable synergies between the Belgian, Dutch and French
entities. In this respect and taking into account the discussions that started with the works’ council in November and December
2007, further discussions are currently being held in the works’ council and with the unions on a voluntary early retirement plan, for
the employees in Zenitel (Belgium) NV, taking into account the minimum guidelines set by CAO 17 (Collective Employment
Agreement) and the CAO of employee committee 209 in Belgium.
The total restructuring charge, accounted for in the second semester, amounts to EUR 5.4 million. EUR 1.2 million of this amount was
already paid in 2007 and is shown under the termination benefits expenses in note 5 of these financial statements. The remaining
EUR 4.3 million resulted in an increase of the restructuring provision by EUR 4.1 million and an increase of the Other provisions by
EUR 0.2 million. Of the total restructuring cost, EUR 4.5 million relates to Zenitel (Belgium) NV, of which EUR 0.9 million has been paid
in September.
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Technical guarantees
The Group recognizes the estimated liability to repair or replace its products still under warranty at the balance sheet date. This
provision is calculated based on the past history of level of repairs and replacements.
Other
The other provisions cover principally a risk related to the representations and warranties given, tax disputes, claims on deliveries,
potential losses on projects, site restoration obligations, penalties, jubilee premiums or legal claims. In 2007, EUR 811 K has been
accounted for relating to potential losses on old projects.

31. Financial instruments
The following table gives an overview of the carrying values and classes of financial instruments.
31 December 2007
31 December 2006
Carrying
Carrying
Fair value
Fair value
value
value

Balance sheet caption

THOUSANDS OF EUR

-

18

18

18

18

Other financial assets

317
317

317
317

Other financial assets

Carrying
value

Value
Amortized
cost

Carrying
value

Value
Amortized
cost

Loans and receivables
Long term guarantees paid in cash
Other financial assets
Finance lease receivables
Trade receivables
Credits to receive from suppliers
Other receivables

25,220
328
168
1,109
22,810
241
564

25,220
328
168
1,109
22,810
241
564

28,273
311
236
1,272
25,533
921

28,273
311
236
1,272
25,533
921

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Trade payables
Other payables

46,380
15,067
19,191
12,122

46,380
15,067
19,191
12,122

53,554
21,600
20,258
11,696

53,554
21,600
20,258
11,696

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Non hedging derivatives
Financial assets held for sales
Available for sale investments

-

Other financial assets

Other financial assets
Other financial assets
Finance lease receivable- LT and ST
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables

Interest bearing loans and
borrowings LT and ST
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables

Net fair values of derivative financial instruments
The derivatives are not part of a hedging relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting.
Consequently, changes in fair value are recognized in the income statement.
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31 DECEMBER

2007
Fair value

2006
Fair value

The net fair value of the forward foreign exchange contracts:

18

-

- with positive fair values
- with negative fair values
Net

18
18

0

THOUSANDS OF EUR

32. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
First off all, the Company still has to close one difficult project in Algeria. The Company is of the opinion that it will be able to
finalize the project in view of ongoing negotiations. The total recorded asset related to this project amounts to EUR 1.1 million.
Relating to its contingent liabilities, the total maximum exposure is estimated at EUR 7.0 million. The contingent liabilities relate to
possible obligations in respect of soil contamination, local authorities and redundancies.
On December 31, 2007, the estimated contingent liabilities amount to EUR 0.7 million (2006: EUR 0.7 million). This contingent
liability has been calculated based on estimated probability of possible obligations, with uncertainty on timing and/or amount,
arising in the course of the business.

33. Commitments
Operating lease commitments - where a group company is the lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non cancelable operating lease are as follows:
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total

31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

3,426
7,089
1,142
11,657

3,944
6,110
1,720
11,774

Lease payments recognized in the income statement for the current period amount to EUR 4.1 million (2006: EUR 4.3 million).
Operating lease agreements relate to office premises, site rents, car lease and IT equipment.
.

Operating lease commitments - where a group company is the lessor
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total
Lease payments recognized in the income statement for the current period amount to EUR 1.1 million (2006: EUR 0.8 million).

Commitments for expenditure by group companies
The group has committed for EUR 640 K Tetra equipment purchases.
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2006

1,017
2,918
388
4,323

903
2,825
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4,243
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34. Ordinary shares, treasury shares and warrants
On May 4th, 2007, Zenitel announced that the subscription period for the capital increase had been closed early. The possibility
of early closing of the Free Tranche was described in the prospectus, i.e. earliest on May 3rd, 2007 as soon as the targeted
subscription amount of EUR 18 million had been reached.
74.3% of the priority tranche of EUR 13 million was subscribed. Based on this, 3,099,124 new shares were allocated. After claw
back, 3,108,773 shares were available in the free tranche (including the private placement at institutional investors). This
extended free tranche was 2.1 times oversubscribed. Based on this success, it was decided to exercise the over allotment option.
As a result of this exercise an additional amount of EUR 1.8 million has been raized per June 4th, 2007, at the offer price of EUR
2.9 per share. This brought the total number of new shares placed in the offering at 6,827,586, raising EUR 19.8 million for
Zenitel. The total number of Zenitel shares now amounts to 16,554,422.
Ordinary shares & treasury shares
Treasury
shares

Total

9,613,723

113,113

9,726,836

On January 1, 2007
Capital increase - May 4th, 2007
Capital increase - over allotment option June 4th, 2007
On 31 December, 2007

9,613,723
6,207,897
619,689
16,441,309

113,113
113,113

9,726,836
6,207,897
619,689
16,554,422

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purposes of basic earnings per share (all measures)

14,069,169

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Number of
ordinary shares

On 1 January, 2006

All issued shares are fully paid. Shares have no par value. The total authorized capital is per December 31, 2007 EUR 25,274,723
Warrants were granted to directors and to employees. The table below gives an overview of the outstanding number of warrants:
2007
Weighted
average
exercise price
(EUR)

Number of
warrants

Weighted
average
exercise price
(EUR)

475,731
475,731

12.21

480,982
5,251
475,731

12.25

NUMBER OF WARRANTS

At the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
Forfeited during the financial year
Exercised during the financial year
Expired during the financial year
Balance at the end of the financial year

2006

Number of
warrants

12.21

12.21

The warrant program provides for an acceptance period of 60 days following the day of offering, which is the service date. The beneficiary of the warrant will be able to
exercise one third of the accepted warrants, after one year following the offer, another third after 2 years and the remaining third after 3 years.
The warrants can only be exercised during the following periods: from the fifteenth until the thirty-first of March, from the fifteenth until the thirty-first of May, from the
fifteenth until the thirty-first of August and from the fifteenth until the thirtieth of November.
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The warrants outstanding at the end of the year have the following terms, taking into account the above limitations:
Number
of Warrants
OFFERING DATE

18/12/2000
05/02/2001
29/06/2001
13/02/2004
13/02/2004
10/02/2005
Total

126,167
10,000
147,617
82,263
54,842
54,842
475,731

Exercise
price
(EUR)
17.16
15.01
16.49
6.08
6.08
4.13

Fair value at
grant date
(EUR)
2.42
1.89
1.28

Plan 2000
Plan 2000
Plan 2000
Plan 2000
Plan 2004
Plan 2004

The fair value calculation has been performed using Black&Scholes model, using the following parameters:
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Grant date share price
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Option life
Dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
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Dec 2000

Feb 2001

June 2001

Feb 2004

Feb 2005

17.61
17.61
30%
8
0%
2.50%

15.01
15.01
30%
8
0%
2.50%

16.49
16.49
30%
8
0%
2.50%

6.08
6.08
30%
5
0%
2.50%

4.13
4.13
30%
5
0%
2.50%
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35. Cash flows generated from operations
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

NOTES

IN THOUSANDS OF EURO

Net profit / (Loss) for the year
Adjustments for :
Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss
Finance cost recognized in profit or loss
Investment revenue recognized in profit or loss
Loss / (gain) on disposal of business
Impairment loss recognized on trade receivables
Impairment loss recognized on inventory
Share of profits of associates
Depreciation and amortization of non-current assets
Amortization of capital grant
Expense recognized in profit or loss in respect of equity-settled share-based payments
Development costs expensed
Changes in working capital:
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
(Increase) / decrease contract work in progress
(Increase) / decrease in other assets
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Increase / (decrease) in tax liabilities
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities
Cash Flows from operations

12
10
9
14

23

16,17,18
9
34
8

2007

2006

(12,465)

(3,651)

166
1,821
(261)
392
416
427

156
1,596
(84)
84
213
507

2,703
0
27
1,631
(5,143)

2,623
(12)
49
1,921
3,402

2,345
(2,212)
(1,287)
303
(639)
3,287
(1,031)
(70)
696
(4,447)

3,387
(1,403)
3,070
510
(9,435)
(1,652)
106
0
(5,417)
(2,015)
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36. Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not dislosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed
below.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

Receivables from related parties (thousands of EUR)
Director's remuneration (thousands of EUR)*
Warrants granted to directors (number)
Non executives
Executives
Shareholder loan (thousands of EUR)
Key management remuneration (thousands of EUR)*
Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Share-based payments (see warrants above)
Termination benefits**
Total key management remuneration (cost to the company)***

2007

2006

366
170

61
263

-

6,757

1,476
34
190
1,700

1,505
27
1,532

* The presented amounts include social charges paid by the Company.
** Minimum amounts, excluding legally determined fees based on labour law.
*** See also chapter on Corporate governance

The CEO's total remuneration package (including social charges paid by the company) for 2007 (both fixed and variable)
amounted to EUR 0.4 million. Termination benefits of EUR 0.2 million have been granted.
The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.
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37. Principal subsidiary undertakings
Europe
Zenitel Belgium N.V.
Zenitel Devlonics N.V.
MCCN N.V.
Zenitel Norway ASA
Zenitel Wireless Norway AS
Zenitel Denmark A/S
Zenitel Finland Oy
Zenitel Radioteknik A.B.
Zenitel Marine Sweden A.B.
Radioteknik A.B.
Zenitel Wireless France S.A.
Zenitel CSS France S.A.
Zenitel Italy
Zenitel Finance Netherlands B.V.
Zenitel Netherlands B.V.
Mission Critical Communication Networks B.V.
Zenitel UK Ltd.
North America
Zenitel USA Inc
Rest of World
Zenitel Singapore Ltd
Zenitel Caribbean B.V.
Zenitel Aruba B.V.
BNSC (China)

Ownership

Country of incorporation

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
15%

Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Norway
Norway
Denmark
Finland
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
France
France
Italy
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
United Kingdom
Country of incorporation
United States
Country of incorporation
Singapore
The Dutch Antilles
The Dutch Antilles
China

100%
100%
100%
100%
14%

Voting interests equal ownership.

38. Post balance sheet events
No important post balance sheet events occurred.
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Statutory Auditors Report for
the Year Ended
31 December 2007
Free translation – the original report is in
Dutch

To the Shareholders
As required by law and the company’s articles of
association, we are pleased to report to you on the audit
assignment which you have entrusted to us. This report
includes our opinion on the financial statements together
with the required additional comments and information.

Unqualified Audit Opinion on the
Financial Statements with an
Emphasis of Matter Paragraph
We have audited the financial statements of Zenitel NV for
the year ended 31 December 2007, prepared in accordance
with the accounting principles applicable in Belgium, which
show total assets of 83.552 (000) EUR and a loss for the year
of 11.713 (000) EUR.
The board of directors of the company is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements. This responsibility
includes among other things: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with legal requirements and auditing standards
applicable in Belgium, as issued by the “Institut des
Reviseurs d’Entreprises/Instituut der Bedrijfsrevisoren”.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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In accordance with these standards, we have performed
procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, we have considered internal control
relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the company’s internal control. We have assessed the
basis of the accounting policies used, the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the company and the
presentation of the financial statements, taken as a whole.
Finally, the board of directors and responsible officers of the
company have replied to all our requests for explanations
and information. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements as of 31 December
2007 give a true and fair view of the company’s assets,
liabilities, financial position and results in accordance with
the accounting principles applicable in Belgium.
Without questioning the above unqualified opinion, we draw
the attention to the director’s report, in which the Board of
Directors, in accordance with the Belgian legal requirements,
justifies the application of valuation rules under the going
concern assumption. No adjustments were made in
connection with the valuation or the classification of certain
balance sheet accounts which may become necessary if the
company would not be able to continue its activities. With
respect to investments (52.001 (000) EUR) the Board of
Directors has evaluated the book value, based upon
assumptions made in the business plan, and has considered
the recorded amortization to be sufficient.
The assumption to continue as a going concern is only valid
in case the group continues to have access to short and
medium term financing. The group is dependent on the
continued financial support of the shareholders and other
financing sources.

Zenitel RA 2007-UK-Financier BB 2:Zenitel RA 2007 Financier

20/03/08

19:18

Page 65

• Auditor's Reports on
Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Valuation Rules
• Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

• Auditor's Reports
• Statutory Balance Sheet
• Statutory Income
Statement
• Dividend Policy
• Annex

Additional Comments
The preparation and the assessment of the information that
should be included in the directors’ report and the company’s compliance with the requirements of the Companies
Code and its articles of association are the responsibility of
the board of directors.
Our responsibility is to include in our report the following
additional comments which do not change the scope of our
audit opinion on the financial statements:
• The directors’ report includes the information required by
law and is in agreement with the financial statements.
However, we are unable to express an opinion on the
description of the principal risks and uncertainties
confronting the company, or on the status, future evolution,
or significant influence of certain factors on its future
development. We can, nevertheless, confirm that the
information given is not in obvious contradiction with any
information obtained in the context of our appointment;
• Without prejudice to certain formal aspects of minor
importance, the accounting records are maintained in
accordance with the legal and regulatory requirements
applicable in Belgium;
• No transactions have been undertaken or decisions taken
in violation of the company’s articles or the Companies
Code such as we would be obliged to report to you. The
appropriation of the results proposed to the general
meeting is in accordance with the requirements of the law
and the company’s articles.
Diegem, 28 March 2008
The Statutory Auditor
DELOITTE Bedrijfsrevisoren / Reviseurs d’Entreprises
BV o.v.v.e. CVBA / SC s.f.d. SCRL
Represented by William Blomme
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Statutory Auditor's Report
for the Year Ended
31 December 2006
Free translation – the original report is in
Dutch

To the Shareholders
As required by law and the company's articles of association,
we are pleased to report to you on the audit assignment
which you have entrusted to us. This report includes our
opinion on the financial statements together with the required
additional comments and information.

Unqualified Audit Opinion on the
Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Zenitel NV for
the year ended 31 December 2006, prepared in accordance
with the accounting principles applicable in Belgium, which
show total assets of 89.309 (000) EUR and a loss for the year
of 1.796 (000) EUR.
The board of directors of the company is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements. This responsibility
includes among other things: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with legal requirements and auditing standards
applicable in Belgium, as issued by the "Institut des
Reviseurs d'Entreprises/Instituut der Bedrijfsrevisoren".
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
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to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
In accordance with these standards, we have performed procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we have considered internal control relevant to the
company's preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company's
internal control. We have assessed the basis of the accounting policies used, the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the company and the presentation of the
financial statements, taken as a whole. Finally, the board of
directors and responsible officers of the company have
replied to all our requests for explanations and information.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements as of 31 December
2006 give a true and fair view of the company's assets, liabilities, financial position and results in accordance with the
accounting principles applicable in Belgium.
Without questioning the above unqualified opinion, we draw
the attention to the director's report, in which the Board of
Directors, in accordance with the Belgian legal requirements,
justifies the application of valuation rules under the going
concern assumption. No adjustments were made in connection with the valuation or the classification of certain balance
sheet accounts which may become necessary if the company would not be able to continue its activities. With respect
to investments (61.905 (000) EUR) the Board of Directors has
evaluated the book value, based upon assumptions made in
the business plan, and has considered the recorded
amortization to be sufficient.
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The assumption to continue as a going concern is only valid
in case the group has access to short and medium term
financing. The group is dependent on the continued financial
support of the shareholders and other financing sources.

Additional Comments
The preparation and the assessment of the information that
should be included in the directors' report and the company's compliance with the requirements of the Companies
Code and its articles of association are the responsibility of
the board of directors.
Our responsibility is to include in our report the following
additional comments which do not change the scope of our
audit opinion on the financial statements:
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• The directors' report includes the information required by
law and is in agreement with the financial statements.
However, we are unable to express an opinion on the
description of the principal risks and uncertainties confronting the company, or on the status, future evolution, or
significant influence of certain factors on its future development. We can, nevertheless, confirm that the information
given is not in obvious contradiction with any information
obtained in the context of our appointmen;
• Without prejudice to certain formal aspects of minor importance, the accounting records are maintained in accordance with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable
in Belgium;
• No transactions have been undertaken or decisions taken
in violation of the company's articles or the Companies
Code such as we would be obliged to report to you. The
appropriation of the results proposed to the general meeting is in accordance with the requirements of the law and
the company's articles.

Diegem, 29 March 2007
The Statutory Auditor
DELOITTE Reviseurs d'Entreprises
SC s.f.d. SCRL
Represented by William Blomme
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Statutory Auditor's Report
for the Year Ended
31 December 2005

Unqualified Audit Opinion on the
Financial statements with a
Matter of Emphasis Paragraph

Free translation – the original report is in
Dutch

The forementioned auditing standards require that we plan
and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

To the Shareholders,As required by law

In accordance with these standards we have taken into
account the administrative and accounting organization of
the company as well as its internal control processes. The
responsible officers of the company have replied clearly to all
our requests for explanations and information. We have
examined, on a test basis, the evidence supporting the
amounts included in the financial statements. We have

and the company’s articles of association, we are pleased to
report to you on the audit assignment which you have
entrusted to us.
We have audited the financial statements of ZENITEL NV for
the year ended 31 December 2005, prepared in accordance
with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in
Belgium, which show total assets of EUR 83.746 (000) and a
loss for the year of EUR 8.939 (000). We have also performed
those specific additional audit procedures required by the
Companies Code.
The Board of Directors of the company is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and the directors’report, for the assessment of the information that should be
included in the directors’report, and the company’s compliance with the requirements of the Companies Code and its
articles of association.
Our audit of the financial statements was conducted in
accordance with legal requirements and auditing standards
applicable in Belgium, as issued by the “Institut des
Reviseurs d’Entreprises/Instituut der Bedrijfsrevisoren”.
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assessed the basis of the accounting policies used, the significant accounting estimates made by the company and the
presentation of the financial statements, taken as a whole.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
In our opinion, taking account of the legal and regulatory
requirements applicable in Belgium, the financial statements
as of 31 December 2005 give a true and fair view of the company’s assets, liabilities, financial position and results.

Zenitel RA 2007-UK-Financier BB 2:Zenitel RA 2007 Financier

20/03/08

19:18

Page 69

• Auditor's Reports on
Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Valuation Rules
• Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

Without questioning the above unqualified opinion, we draw
the attention to the director’s report, in which the Board of
Directors, in accordance with the Belgian legal requirements,
justifies the application of valuation rules under the going
concern assumption. No adjustments were made in connection with the valuation or the classification of certain balance
sheet accounts which may become necessary if the company would not be able to continue its activities. With respect
to investments (58.375 (000) EUR) the Board of Directors has
evaluated the book value, based upon assumptions made in
the business plan, and has considered the recorded
amortization to be sufficient.
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• Without prejudice to certain formal aspects of minor importance, the accounting records are maintained and the
financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in
Belgium;
• No transactions have been undertaken or decisions taken
in violation of the company’s articles or the Companies
Code such as we would be obliged to report to you. The
appropriation of the results proposed to the General
Meeting is in accordance with the requirements of the law
and the company’s articles.

Additional Attestations
We supplement our report with the following attestations
which do not change the scope of our audit opinion on the
financial statements:
• The directors’ report includes the information required by
law and is in agreement with the financial statements.
However, we are unable to express an opinion on the
description of the principle risks and uncertainties confronting the company, or on the status, future evolution, or
significant influence of certain factors on its future development. We can, nevertheless, confirm that the information
given is not in obvious contradiction with any information
obtained in the context of our appointment;

30 March 2006
The Statutory Auditor
DELOITTE Reviseurs d'Entreprises
SC s.f.d. SCRL
Represented by William Blomme
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Statutory Balance Sheet
Assets

31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

2005

Fixed assets
Formation expenses
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Land and buildings
Furniture and vehicles
Leasing and similar rights
Other tangible assets
Financial assets
Affiliated enterprises
Participating interests
Other financial assets
Guarantees
Current assets
Amounts receivable within one year
Trade debtors
Other amounts receivable
Investments
Other investments and deposits
Cash at bank and in hand
Deferred charges and accrued income

55,043
1,094
35
1,603
1,207
44
278
74
52,312
52,001
52,001
311
311
28,508
24,700
3,394
21,306
3,187
3,187
274
347

64,518
473
79
1,751
1,233
142
301
74
62,216
61,905
61,905
311
311
24,791
24,323
4,963
19,360
155
155
30
282

61,486
631
128
2,046
1,307
242
423
74
58,681
58,375
58,375
306
306
22,260
20,739
1,965
18,774
1,145
1,145
44
332

Total

83,552

89,309

83,746

THOUSANDS OF EUR

70

ZENITEL

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 7 - F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S

Zenitel RA 2007-UK-Financier BB 2:Zenitel RA 2007 Financier

20/03/08

19:18

Page 71

• Auditor's Reports on
Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Consolidated Financial
Statements
• Valuation Rules
• Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

• Auditor's Reports
• Statutory Balance
Sheet
• Statutory Income
Statement
• Dividend Policy
• Annex

Statutory Balance Sheet
Liabilities
THOUSANDS OF EUR

Capital and reserves
Issued capital
Share premium account
Reserves
Legal reserve
Reserves not available for distribution
Untaxed reserves
Reserves available for distribution
Loss carried forward
Investment grants
Provisions, deferred taxation
Pensions and similar obligations
Other liabilities and charges
Creditors
Amounts payable after one year
Leasing and other similar obligations
Credit institutions
Amounts payable within one year
Current portion of amounts payable after one year
Credit institutions
Suppliers
Taxes, remuneration and social security
Taxes
Remuneration and social security
Other amounts payable
Accrued charges and deferred income
Total

31 DECEMBER

2007

2006

2005

64,157
25,275
28,726
32,605
1,322
14
11,548
19,721
(22,448)
403
266
138
18,991
7,193
926
6,267
11,612
118

56,070
14,850
19,350
32,605
1,322
14
11,548
19,721
(10,735)
1,115
352
763
32,124
2,311
963
1,348
29,667
165
6,006
3,070
397
103
294
20,030
146
89,309

57,878
14,850
19,350
32,605
1,322
14
11,548
19,721
(8,939)
12
1,654
430
1,224
24,214
2,469
1,042
1,427
21,697
237
4,994
3,126
208
76
132
13,132
48
83,746

2,853
355
73
282
8,287
185
83,552
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Statutory Income Statement
-

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Operating income
Turnover
Increase (+); decrease (-) in stocks of finished goods,
work and contracts in progress
Own construction capitalized
Other operating income
Operating charges
Raw materials, consumables and goods for resale
Purchases
Increase (+) decrease (-) in stocks
Services and other goods
Remuneration, social security costs and pensions
Depreciation of and other amounts written off formation expenses,
intangible and tangible fixed assets
Increase (+); decrease (-) in provisions for liabilities and charges
Other operating charges
Operating profit (+)
Operating loss (-)
Financial income
Income from financial fixed assets
Income from current assets
Other financial income
Financial charges (-)
Interest and other debt charges
Amounts written off current assets
Other financial charges
Profit on ordinary activities before taxes (+)
Loss on ordinary activities before taxes (-)
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2007

2006

2005

7,198
-

6,701
-

7,928
-

7,198
(7,555)
5,536
1,485

6,701
(7,475)
5,870
1,137

7,928
(8,549)
6,809
1,252

595
(86)
25
(357)
1,699
1,470
229
(2,881)
969
1,500
412
(1,538)

502
(98)
64
(775)
1,411
1,105
306
(2,506)
931
924
651
(1,869)

572
(179)
95
(621)
1,601
936
665
(9,481)
622
8,295
564
(8,501)
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Statutory Income Statement
-

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

THOUSANDS OF EUR

Extraordinary income
Adjustment to amounts written off provisions for exceptional charges
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Other extraordinary income
Extraordinary charges (-)
Depreciation of and other amounts written off formation expenses,
intangible and tangible fixed assets
Amounts written off financial fixed assets
Provisions for extraordinary liabilities and charges (increase +, decrease -)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Other extraordinary charges Profit for the period before taxes (+)
Loss for the period before taxes (-)
Income taxes (-) (+)
Income taxes (-)
Adjustment of income taxes & write-back of tax provisions
Profit for the period (+)
Loss for the period (-)
Profit for the period available for appropriation (+)
Loss for the period available for appropriation (-)
Appropriation account
Profit to be appropriated
Loss to be appropriated
Profit for the period available for appropriation
Loss for the period available for appropriation (-)
Loss brought forward
Transfers from capital and share premium account
Profit to be carried forward
Loss to be carried forward

2007

2006

2005

729
559
170
(10,883)

88

3,130
1,300
1,830
(3,555)

10,615
(66)
334
(11,692)
(21)
(21)
(11,713)
(11,713)
(22,447)
(11,713)
(10,735)
(22,448)

241
(441)
112
(1,781)
(15)
(16)
1
(1,796)
(1,796)
(10,735)
(1,796)
(8,939)
(10,735)

2,555
1,000
(8,926)
(13)
(33)
20
(8,939)
(8,939)
(105,591)
(8,939)
(96,652)
96,652
(8,939)
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Dividend Policy
In view of the net losses realised during the period under
review (2005, 2006 and 2007) no dividends have been paid.

Legal and Arbitration
Proceedings
We refer to the section on contingencies in the financial
statements.
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capital assets and capital-asset based businesses. Candidate A's main focus is to act
as a capital partner for companies and its target sectors include oil and gas, energy,
telecommunications, transportation, healthcare, and other sectors with similar cash
flow characteristics and large infrastructure requirements.
Candidate B is a listed industrial company with a stock market cap of more than
500 millions euro with whom a significant amount of synergy would be realised.

During the period under review (2005 – 2007), article 523 of the Belgian Company
Code has been applicable on five occasions, being 29 January 2005, 17 February
2005, 17 January 2007, 16 April 2007 and 22 April 2007.

Extract of the Minutes of the Board of Directors on
29 January 2005
Mr. Frank Donck and De Wilg, Gew. Comm. V., represented by Mr. Frank Donck, inform
the board of directors that they have a conflict of interest with respect to the proposed
decision: De Wilg, Gew. Comm. V. has decided to subscribe to shares issued in the
offering as institutional investor. Mr. Frank Donck is an indirect shareholder of 3D NV,
which has decided to subscribe to shares issued in the offering as institutional
investor. Taking into account the existence of an institutional tranche, in accordance
with the offering memorandum, which only institutional investors can subscribe for,
De Wilg, Gew. Comm. V., and Mr. Frank Donck are of the opinion that they have an
interest of a financial nature in case of approving an offering memorandum wherein
such institutional tranche is provided and of approving the applicable price range.
In order to avoid any influence on the deliberation of the board of directors, Frank
Donck and De Wilg, Gew. Comm. V., leave the meeting room and do not take part in
the deliberation and the decision of the board of directors with regard to this item on
the agenda.

Both candidates have indicated to envisage a long term investment in the Company.
Confidentiality and standstill letters have been signed with both Candidates.
Although the structure of a potential transaction is uncertain at this stage, both parties
are considering to acquire a controlling stake in the Company, and a transaction will
possibly result in a public takeover bid on the shares of the Company.
Both Candidate A and Candidate B have requested to be granted access to the books
and records of the Company to proceed with the preparation of a potential transaction
and further examine its opportunity. Both Candidates expect that information is made
available enabling them to conduct a due diligence review of the Company and its
activities and operations in accordance with the standards and procedures which are
customary for this type of transaction taking into account that the Company is a listed
company. In addition, the interested parties may want to have access to certain numbers of the management of the Company and/or to have management interviews.
As a result, the Company would have to disclose and communicate confidential financial and commercial information to the relevant parties and their advisors.
The Board members agree that the above Candidates present an opportunity for the
future development of the Company. Furthermore, the Company will require new funds
if it wishes to develop its current and new projects in a market which remains very
competitive. If the Company wishes to safeguard a place in the market, these projects
require that they are developed and concluded in a short term.

The auditor will be informed of this conflict of interest.

It is therefore proposed that the following decision be considered and deliberated upon
by the Board of Directors in respect of the above request (the "Proposed Decision")

Extract of the Minutes of the Board of Directors on
17 February 2005

"1. The Board of Directors decides that third parties potentially interested in acquiring
a controlling stake in the Company are allowed to have access to any information,
which may be useful or required in order to enable such parties to examine the
opportunity of such transaction and to conduct a due diligence review of the
Company and its activities, to the extent that:

First of all, Mr. Frank Donck and De Wilg, Gew. Comm. V., notify that they have potential conflict of interests with respect to decision on the capital increased caused by the
following reasons. De Wilg, Gew. Comm. V., has subscribed to shares issued in the
offering as institutional investor in the institutional tranche which only institutional
investors can subscribe for. Mr. Frank Donck is an indirect shareholder of 3D NV that
has also subscribed to shares issued in the offering as institutional investor in the
institutional tranche.
Frank Donck and De Wilg, Gew. Comm. V. leave the meeting room and do not take
part in the deliberation and the decision of the board of directors with regards to the
capital increase.
The auditor will be informed of this conflict of interest.

Copy of the Minutes of the Board of Directors on
17 January 2007
The Board of Directors of the Company holds a meeting on 17 January at 8.30 a.m.

(a) The disclosure of information and the due diligence review shall take place in at
least two steps as follows:
i. During an initial phase (the "Preliminary Due Diligence"), potential bidders shall
only be granted access to publicly available or non-confidential information
relating to the Company and its activities which they require to make an
indicative offer;
ii. The disclosure of confidential information shall occur in a subsequent phase
(the "Confirmatory Due Diligence"), and access to such information will be subject to (i) the candidates having made an indicative offer in writing to the main
shareholders, with a sufficient level of detail, for the acquisition of a long-term
controlling interest in the Company and (ii) two directors establishing, on the
basis of the indicative offer, that there is a reasonable chance that the relevant
candidate is seriously considering the acquisition of a controlling stake in the
Company;

The following directors are present:
- Frank Donck,
- BRECI BVBA (represented by Rudy Broeckaert)
- Erik Hoving,
- De Wilg GCV (represented by Dirk Van Tricht),
- VZH NV (represented by Eric Van Zele),
- Houterman Management Consultancy BV (represented by Ferry I.M. Houterman), and
- Duco Sickinghe.

(b) The disclosure of any information is subject to the potential candidates entering
into a firm confidentiality undertaking and a standstill undertaking that shall at
least remain in force for a period of one year after the termination of the agreement containing the standstill, and which shall be binding upon any of their
representatives who shall have access to the information (except for advisors
who are bound by a professional confidentiality obligation);

The meeting is also attended by Rika Coppens (CFO) and Dirk Van Gerven (external
counsel to the Company), with the express consent of the Board of Directors.

(d) The due diligence process is governed by stringent rules of conduct for the participants, and adequate measures are provided for to safeguard the confidentiality of the information (including monitored access in a secure dataroom and
detailed dataroom rules and procedures);

All directors individually and expressly waive the convening formalities prescribed by
law or by the articles of association of the Company for the meetings of the Board.
Since all directors are present or represented, the Board can validly deliberate and
decide.

1. Request to Disclose Confidential Information Relating to the Company to
Third Parties with a view to a Potential acquisition of a Controlling Stake in
the Company
Mr. Frank Donck informs the members of the Board of Directors of the fact that several
third parties, who are acting independently from each other and without being aware of
each other's involvement, are exploring a potential acquisition of the shares held by
the main shareholders of the Company, and that these shareholders are considering a
divestment of their participation through a sale to one of these parties. The change in
the controlling shareholders of the Company should permit to create a stable group of
new and/or existing shareholders, which is necessary to deliver the cash funds to
restructure the Company. The Company has been restructuring since 1997. The core
business of the Company was redefined in 2005 and a long term strategy was
established. Investment in TETRA networks is a core part of this strategy and will
require substantial funds. At the same time, the Company will also further invest in the
development of new intercom applications. The interest of the Company requires that
the Company considers whether it should make information available in the process of
the sale of the shareholding of some main shareholders as is requested by the parties
with whom these shareholders are in discussion.

(c) Any disclosure of information is made observing all requirements and procedures
of the regulations regarding the use of privileged information ("voorkennis");

(e) The disclosure of information and the due diligence review are subject to an
undertaking by the persons having access to such information to return all information to the Company if the transaction is cancelled or fails;
(f) The disclosure of information occurs in accordance with all relevant standards
and procedures which are customary for this type of transaction, taking into
account that the Company is a listed company;
(g) The Company at all times has the right to postpone the release and disclosure of
information if this is required to protect the Company's interests or otherwise
deemed inappropriate, and to not disclose specific information to a specific
Candidate;
(h) The access to the information will not extend beyond 3 business days per candidate during the Preliminary Due Diligence and 6 business days per candidate
during the Confirmatory Due Diligence, subject to extension decided by two
directors upon motivated request.
2. The Board of Directors authorises two directors to establish, on the basis of the
indicative offers, whether or not there is a reasonable chance that the relevant candidate is seriously considering the acquisition of a controlling stake in the Company
and to decide which candidates should be allowed to have access to confidential
information for the purposes of Confirmatory Due Diligence."

The identity of the potential candidates has been communicated at the meeting; they
are further identified in these minutes as Candidate A and Candidate B. Candidate A is
an independent investment fund manager established in 2000 to acquire and develop
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2. Request to Disclose Confidential Information Relating to the Company to Third
Parties With a view to a Potential Acquisition of a Controlling Stake in the Company
De Wilg GCV declares having an interest of financial nature which is or may be
opposed to the interests of the Company in respect of the Proposed Decision, as De
Wilg GCV owns 14.15 % of the shares of the Company (on a diluted basis) and the
Proposed Decision may lead to or facilitate a transaction which may benefit De Wilg GCV.
Frank Donck then indicates that he has an interest of a financial nature which is or may
be opposed to the interests of the Company in respect of the Proposed Decision, as
his family controls 3D NV which owns approximately 25% of the Company and he is
the managing director of 3D NV.
BRECI BVBA, informs the Board of Directors that it is the chairman of the board of
directors of 3D NV. As a chairman it receives a director's fee which is linked to the
performance of 3D NV.
In accordance with Article 523 of the Company Code, Frank Donck, De Wilg GCV and
BRECI BVBA confirm that they will not participate in the discussion and the deliberation in respect of the final decision on the Proposed Decision when such decision is
presented for decision at a following board meeting.
3. Statement Relating to Article 524 of the Company Code
The Board of Directors subsequently decides that the Proposed Decision relates to the
relationship between the Company and one of its affiliated companies (other than subsidiaries as defined in Article 524 § 1 of the Company Code). More specifically, the
Board of Directors believes that De Wilg GCV and 3D NV could be considered as affiliated companies ("verbonden vennootschappen") as defined in Article 524 § 1 of the
Company Code. Consequently, the Board of Directors deems it appropriate that the
Proposed Decision is taken observing and complying with the procedure set forth in
Article 524 of the Company Code and decides to submit the Proposed Decision for
review and assessment to a committee of three independent directors.
4. Decision
The Board of Directors designates the following persons as independent directors,
who will form the Committee of Independent Directors (the "Committee"):
- VZH NV (represented by Eric Van Zele),
- Houterman Management Consultancy BV (represented by Ferry I.M. Houterman), and
- Duco Sickinge.
The Committee has the right to request the assistance of one or more independent
experts of its choice, who will be remunerated by the Company.
The Committee is requested to prepare and deliver an opinion in respect of the
Proposed Decision in accordance with Article 524 § 2 of the Company Code. More
specifically, the Committee is requested to:
(i) Examine and confirm that each of its members meets the independence requirements set forth in Article 524 §4 of the Company Code;
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Further, the Chairman explains that in order to postpone the disclosure of the information, there may be no threat of the market being misled and the Company must adopt
measures to guarantee the confidentiality of such information. The Chairman stresses
that the CBFA must, without delay, be informed about the decision of the Company to
postpone the disclosure of such information to the public.
After some discussion the Board of Directors unanimously resolves that, since the
aforementioned conditions are met, the disclosure of the information will be postponed.
The Board of Directors refers to the following measures which were adopted in order
to guarantee the confidentiality of the information:
- A confidentiality and standstill agreement is signed with Candidate A and Candidate
B. Such agreement contains provisions stating the fact that access has been granted
to information may only be disclosed to persons who require such information for
the performance of their function, and contains a standstill with respect to trading of
shares of the Company;
- Such confidentiality undertaking will also be signed by all other persons having
knowledge of the decision to investigate the potential takeover of a controlling stake
in the Company;
- The CFO holds a list with the names of all persons having knowledge of privileged
information relating to the above and who are not bound by a professional
confidentiality obligation.
The Chairman reminds all directors of the legal obligations related to the disclosure of
such information and of the sanctions (including but not limited to administrative sanctions and criminal sanctions) resulting from the disclosure, abuse or the illicit dissemination of such information (the Act of 2 August 2002 on the Supervision of the
Financial Sector and on Financial Services).
The Board of Directors unanimously resolves that a press release will be prepared. In
the event that, despite all the measures taken by the Company as stated above, it
becomes clear that the confidentiality of the information is no longer guaranteed, such
press release will immediately be communicated to the market.
The Board of Directors decides to grant power of attorney to each of the directors,
and/or Ms Rika Coppens, CFO and Compliance Officer each acting separately and
with the power to substitute:
- To draft a press release and decide, if and to the extent necessary, when such press
release will be communicated to the market;
- To inform the CBFA about the decision of the Company to postpone the disclosure to
the public of the decisions referred to above, and accordingly handle all contacts
with the CBFA to this regard, and
- In general to accomplish any formality and perform all acts necessary or useful
regarding the decisions referred to above.

(ii) Describe the nature of the Proposed Decision;

Finally, the Board of Directors states that, in its opinion, the increase of the share price
of the Zenitel share on Eurolist the last days is not due to the Proposed Decision, but
is the result of an article published in Cash on 11 January 2007.

(iii) Assess the business advantages or disadvantages of the Proposed Decision for
the Company and for its sharehold;

6. Capital Increase

(iv) Make an estimate of the financial impact of the Proposed Decision;
(v) Determine whether or not the decision or transaction may cause a disadvantage
to the company that, in the light of the company's policies, is manifestly unlawful
("kennelijk onrechtmatig").
In the event that the Committee does not consider the decision or transaction to be
manifestly unlawful, but believes that it prejudices the Company, the Committee must
clarify which advantages the decision or transaction takes into account in compensation of the disadvantages that are mentioned.
The Board requests the Committee to deliver a reasoned opinion in writing in respect
of the Proposed Decision, referring to each of the aforementioned elements of assessment, to the Board of Directors by 2 February 2007.
The Board of Directors decides to review the Proposed Decision on its next meeting
held in the beginning of February 2007, after having reviewed the report of the
Committee of Independent Directors.
5. Contact with the CBFA
The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the above decision to allow access to
confidential information and the discussions with the Candidates may potentially qualify as privileged information as defined in the Act of 2 August 2002 on the Supervision
of the Financial Sector and on Financial Services and that accordingly such information
should be disclosed to the market.
The Board of Directors is of the opinion that it is not in the interest of the Company to
disclose such information to the public at this moment in time, because this could seriously jeopardize the price of the shares of the Company on Eurolist by Euronext
although no transaction has been concluded with any of the Candidates, and may furthermore result in the confidential negotiations with the Candidates to be terminated.
The Chairman explains that the Company may choose not to disclose such information
under its own responsibility when a number of conditions are met. The Chairman sets
forth that the Company may choose not to disclose the information whenever such
disclosure could harm its legitimate interest. Pending or imminent negotiations and
certain elements connected thereto may indeed be influenced or damaged by
disclosing the information.
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The Board decides that the further preparation of a capital increase in the event that
discussions with the Candidates do not come to a conclusion permitting the injection
within short term of new funds in the Company, should proceed as discussed at the
Board meeting of 7 December 2006. The Board defines that the preparations should
be ready as soon as possible, given the fact that the closing of the results of 31
December 2006 has not yet been finalized. A draft prospectus will be available by 28
February 2007.
The agenda having been dealt with and none of the members present formulating any
further observations, the meeting is closed at 12.00.

Copy of the Minutes of the Board of Directors on
16 April 2007
The following persons attended and participated in the meeting:
The following directors were present:
- Frank Donck,
- BRECI BVBA (represented by Rudy Broeckaert)
- Erik Hoving,
- De Wilg GCV (represented by Dirk Van Tricht),
- VZH NV (represented by Eric Van Zele),
- Houterman Management Consultancy BV (represented by Ferry I.M. Houterman), and
The following director gave proxy to Mr. Eric Van Zele:
- Duco Sickinghe.
The meeting was also attended by Rika Coppens (CFO) with the express consent of
the board of directors.
All directors individually and expressly waived the convening formalities prescribed by law
or by the articles of association of the Company for the meetings of the board of directors.
Since all directors are present or represented, the board of directors can validly
deliberate and decide.
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The Chairman declares that the following item is on the agenda:
- Approval by the board of directors of the draft of share securities note as filed
with the Commission for Banking, Finance and Insurance (CBFA) on 3 April 2007
and power of attorney to two directors with respect of the execution of the share
securities note.
Mr. Frank Donck, De Wilg GCV and BRECI BVBA inform the board of directors of the
fact that they have a conflict of interest as defined in Article 523 of the Company Code
with respect to the proposed decision.
More specifically, Mr. Frank Donck is the managing director of 3D NV and Mr. Frank
Donck's family controls 3D NV, which owns approximately 25% of the shares of the
Company. 3D NV has decided to subscribe shares issued in the offering as institutional
investor. Furthermore, De Wilg GCV owns approximately 14.15 % of the shares of the
Company and De Wilg GCV may decide to subscribe shares issued in the offering as
institutional investor. Finally, BRECI BVBA informed the board of directors that it is the
chairman of the board of directors of 3D NV. As a chairman it receives a director's fee
which is linked to the performance of 3D NV. Taking into account the existence of an
institutional tranche, in accordance with the share securities note, where only institutional investors can subscribe for, Mr. Franck Donck, De Wilg GCV and BRECI BVBA
are of the opinion that they have an interest of a financial nature with respect to
approving a share securities note wherein such institutional tranche is provided.

• Auditor's Reports
• Statutory Balance Sheet
• Statutory Income
Statement
• Dividend Policy
• Annex

After this declaration by the Chairman, the board of directors deliberates and decides
on the items on the agenda.
1. Acknowledgment of the notary deed enacting the capital increase under the condition precedent of the realisation of the public offering and acknowledgement of the
powers of attorney therein.
The Chairman informs the board of directors that a notary deed enacting a capital
increase under the condition precedent of the realisation of the public offering has been
passed on 22 April 2007 at 8.30 p.m. in front of notary public Mtr Gérard Indekeu, by
which the board of directors was validly represented in accordance with the power of
attorney granted by the board of directors during its meeting on 16 April 2007.
The Chairman has sent a draft of the notary deed to the directors and explains its content to the directors. The Chairman summarizes the proxies that have been granted in
the above mentioned notary deed and by which each director, acting alone, is granted
power of attorney to:

RoH

After careful examination of the draft of the notary deed mentioned above and the
powers of attorney granted therein, the board of directors acknowledges and approves
the notary deed enacting the capital increase under the condition precedent of the
realisation of the public offering and acknowledges the powers of attorney therein.

The agenda having been dealt with and none of the members present formulating any
further observations, the meeting is closed at 8:45 am.

Copy of the Minutes of the Board of Directors on
22 April 2007
The board of directors of the Company held a meeting on 22 April 2007 at 9 p.m. by
conference call.
The following persons attended and participated in the meeting:
- Frank Donck,
- BRECI BVBA (represented by Rudy Broeckaert),
- Erik Hoving,
- De Wilg GCV (represented by Dirk Van Tricht),
- VZH NV (represented by Eric Van Zele),
- Houterman Management Consultancy BV (represented by Ferry I.M. Houterman), and
- Duco Sickinghe.
The meeting was also attended by Rika Coppens (CFO) and by Mr Peter
Vandendriesche, with the express consent of the board of directors.
All directors individually and expressly waived the convening formalities prescribed by law
or by the articles of association of the Company for the meetings of the board of directors.
Since all directors are present or represented, the board of directors can validly
deliberate and decide.
The Chairman declares that the following items are on the agenda:
1. Acknowledgment of the notary deed enacting the capital increase under the condition precedent of the realisation of the public offering and acknowledgement of the
powers of attorney therein;
2. Acknowledgement of the final minutes of the Board meetings of April 16, 2007 and
of the report of the statutory auditor;
3. Approval of the share securities note as approved by the Banking, Finance and
Insurance Commission (CBFA) on 17 April 2007 and approval of the share registration note as approved by the Banking, Finance and Insurance Commission (CBFA)
on 3 April 2007;
4. Approval of the price range used, from EUR 2.6 (bottom of the range) to EUR 3.2
(top of the range), as proposed by KBC Securities;
5. Clarification and acknowledgment regarding the underwriting agreement entered
into with KBC securities;
6. Acknowledgement and approval of the press release and the presentation regarding
the public offering;

RNS

- Amend article 5 of the articles of association accordingly, to reflect the above
mentioned effective capital increase;

The auditor will be informed of these conflicts of interest.

The board of directors grants power of attorney (with power of substitution) to
Mr. Frank Donck (chairman) and/or Mr. Erik Hoving (managing director) to make all
necessary and useful amendments to the share securities note in order to finalize the
share securities note in accordance with the changes required by the CBFA. Power of
attorney is given to the aforementioned directors to sign the share securities note on
behalf of the board of directors. More generally, the board of directors confirms that it
grants power of attorney (with power of substitution) to Mr. Frank Donck (chairman)
and/or Mr. Erik Hoving (managing director) to accomplish any formality necessary or
useful regarding the public offering as set forth in the share securities note.

RING

ROC

- Execute all necessary and useful acts that relate to the offering to subscribe and
such within the scope of the provisions decided upon by the board of directors;

The board of directors unanimously approves the draft of the share securities note that
was filed with the CBFA on 3 April 2007. A copy of the draft share securities note is
attached to the present minutes.

RGU

- Decide on the amount by which the statutory capital of the Company will be
increased and on the number of shares that will be issued, following the closing of
the subscription period and the realisation of the public offering;

In accordance with Article 523 of the Company Code and in order to avoid any influence on the deliberation of the board of directors, Mr. Frank Donck, De Wilg GCV and
BRECI BVBA leave the meeting room and do not take part in the deliberation and the
decision of the board of directors with regard to this item on the agenda.
After deliberation the following resolution is adopted by the remaining directors (i.e.
Erik Hoving, VZH NV, Houterman Management Consultancy BV and Duco Sickinghe).

RAK

- Further conclude the prospectus that has to be provided to the public with regards to
the public offering.

2. Acknowledgement of the final minutes of the Board meetings of April 16, 2007 and
the report of the statutory auditor.
The Board minutes of April 16, 2007 have been approved and signed by the members
of the Board
3. Approval of the share securities note as approved by the Banking, Finance and
Insurance Commission (CBFA) on 17 April 2007 and approval of the share registration note as approved by the Banking, Finance and Insurance Commission (CBFA)
on 3 April 2007.
Mr. Frank Donck, De Wilg GCV and BRECI BVBA inform the board of directors of the
fact that they have a conflict of interest as defined in Article 523 of the Company Code
with respect to the proposed decisions.
More specifically, Mr. Frank Donck is the managing director of 3D NV and Mr. Frank
Donck's family controls 3D NV, which owns approximately 25% of the shares of the
Company. 3D NV has decided to subscribe shares issued in the offering as institutional
investor. Furthermore, De Wilg GCV owns approximately 14.15 % of the shares of the
Company and De Wilg GCV may decide to subscribe shares issued in the offering as
institutional investor. Finally, BRECI BVBA informed the board of directors that it is the
chairman of the board of directors of 3D NV. As a chairman it receives a director's fee
which is linked to the performance of 3D NV. Taking into account the existence of an
institutional tranche, in accordance with the share securities note, where only institutional investors can subscribe for, Mr. Franck Donck, De Wilg GCV and BRECI BVBA
are of the opinion that they have an interest of a financial nature with respect to
approving a share securities note wherein such institutional tranche is provided and
with respect to approving the applicable price range used.
In accordance with Article 523 of the Company Code and in order to avoid any influence on the deliberation of the board of directors, Mr. Frank Donck, De Wilg GCV and
BRECI BVBA leave the meeting room and do not take part in the deliberation and the
decision of the board of directors with regard to this item and the subsequent item on
the agenda.
The auditor will be informed of these conflicts of interest.
After deliberation the board of directors approves with unanimity of votes, cast by the
remaining directors (i.e. Erik Hoving, VZH NV, Houterman Management Consultancy BV
and Duco Sickinghe), the share securities note as approved by the Banking, Finance
and Insurance Commission (CBFA) on 17 April 2007 and the share registration note as
approved by the Banking, Finance and Insurance Commission (CBFA) on 3 April 2007.
4. Approval of the price range used, from EUR 2.6 (bottom of the range) to EUR 3.2
(top of the range), as proposed by KBC Securities.
KBC Securities has proposed a price range from EUR 2.6 (bottom of the range) to EUR
3.2 (top of the range). After deliberation the board of directors approves with unanimity
of votes, cast by the remaining directors (i.e. Erik Hoving, VZH NV, Houterman
Management Consultancy BV and Duco Sickinghe), the price range used, from EUR
2.6 (bottom of the range) to EUR 3.2 (top of the range) as proposed by KBC Securities.
5. Clarification and acknowledgment regarding the underwriting agreement entered
into with KBC Securities.
Mr. Frank Donck, De Wilg GCV and BRECI BVBA re-enter the meeting and take part
again in the subsequent deliberations and resolutions of the board of directors.
The board authorises Mr. Frank Donck, Mr Erik Hoving and/or Mrs. Rika Coppens to
finalize the underwriting agreement negotiations with KBC.
6. Acknowledgement and approval of the press release and the presentation regarding
the public offering.

7. Conversion of 620.689 registered shares held by 3D NV of De Wilg GCV into bearer
shares in view of the stock lending to KBC Securities.
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The Chairman explains that with regards to public offering the Company will have to
issue a press release and hold presentations in order to inform the public as much as
possible. The Chairman provides the directors with a draft of the press release and
explains the content of the presentations.
The board of directors acknowledges and approves with unanimity of votes the press
release and the presentation regarding the public offering.
7. Conversion of 620,689 registered shares held by 3D NV or De Wilg GCV into bearer
shares in view of the stock lending to KBC Securities.
The Chairman sets forth that 3D NV or De Wilg GCV have been asked to enter in a
stock lending agreement with KBC Securities NV. The borrowed shares will be used to
allocate the over-allotment option provided for in the Prospectus. Most of the shares
held by 3D NV or De Wilg GCV are registered shares and should therefore be
converted into bearer shares to permit a transfer within the scope of the over-allotment
option. For the aforementioned purpose 3D NV or De Wilg GCV will request a
conversion of 620,689 registered shares into bearer shares. The board of directors
unanimously resolves to convert 620,689 shares registered in the shareholders' register
under the name of 3D NV or De Wilg GCV into bearer shares. The board of directors
decides to grant power of attorney to each of the directors, acting individually, with
power of substitution, to accomplish any formality necessary or useful regarding the
execution of the aforementioned resolution.
As these items are resolved and no further items are on the agenda, the meeting is
adjourned at 9:45 pm.
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